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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
 

Dear Shareholders,

I herein present the annual results of Royale Furniture Holdings Limited (hereafter, “Royale” or the “Company”, together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2013.

The year of 2013 was an exceptional difficult year for the Group. In addition to several years of restrictive policies in the property 
sector, the Government pledged not to provide any major stimulus plan to the overall economy. These led to a very negative 
sentiment upon the Chinese consumers. The furniture industry and hence, the Group was double hit by these factors.

As a result, the Group for the year has recorded a sales decline of 6.6% to HK$994.0 million and a net loss attributable to 
shareholders at HK$455.8 million which included one-time write-off items totalling HK$200.1 million.

Due to the loss situation, the Board of Directors recommended no dividend payment for the year ended 31 December 2013.

OPERATIONS REVIEW

While the Group continued to streamline its operation during the year, it was faced with a big challenge of protecting its market 
share in a declining sales environment. It had to provide both sales discounts and advertisement subsidies to the franchisee 
distributors. These measures further contributed to the already worsened profit margins due to rising costs of labor, material and 
overhead.

During the year, the Group has moved forward with our “Online” sales initiative by establishing itself as a major furniture vendor 
at the T-Mall of the Alibaba Group. Although this online sales channel will not contribute a significant amount to our overall sales 
volume, it would bring long term growth potential to the Group.

BRANDING

The Group continued to invest in the brand of Royal Furniture despite a very difficult year. It appointed Miss Lin Chiling, a 
celebrity model and movie star of the greater China region as the new spokesperson for our brand to refresh our brand image.

Our import division which has an exclusive distributorship with Duresta, a top luxury sofa brand in the U.K. with 75 years of 
history, has established five Duresta stores across China. Although we do not expect a significant monetary contribution from 
this division in the short term, the strategic positioning in the luxury furniture market segment would provide additional brand 
value for the Group.

NEW PLANTS

Our Tianjin plant commenced small scale production in the last quarter of 2013. The Group decided to move much slower 
than planned in scaling up the Tianjin plant in view of the weak market environment. Likewise, major capital expenditure of our 
Nanchang plant has been deferred until the market conditions improve.
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OUTLOOK

In spite of the extremely challenging operating environment, we have achieved certain strategic goals during the year 
including the online initiative, continuous investment in our brand and restructuring exercises to improve operating efficiency. 
Going forward, I recognize that focus on sales channel management is an absolute priority. Hence, we have beefed up our 
management team to formulate reforms on our sales and marketing policies.

With respect to the recent relaxation on the “One Child” policy and the existing favorable policy on urbanization, I feel that the 
Group should enjoy a favourable market environment in the future as the relaxation on the “One Child” policy for certain category 
of families would mean some Chinese households will grow bigger and new furniture will be required. The Group’s brand 
reputation in the market will continue to be our strength on which we could leverage for our sales initiatives.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my deepest thanks to our business partners, franchisees and in particular the 
management team and the employees of the Group for their dedication and hard work in 2013 while the Group experienced 
the most difficult year in its operational history. Likewise, I would like to express my appreciation to our shareholders, investors, 
customers and suppliers for their ongoing support.

TSE Kam Pang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2014
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
 

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: HK$0.55 cents).

Closure of the Register of Members

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from 30 May 2014 to 6 June 2014, both days inclusive. In order to 
be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 6 June 2014, all transfers documents 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis 
Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 29 May 2014.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group experienced a very difficult year in 2013.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group recorded a net loss of HK$470.1 million as a result of lower sales and the 
much worsened gross profit margin combined with the escalated selling and distribution and administrative expenses plus the 
one-time write-off items on goodwill impairment, accounts receivable impairment and deemed disposal on dilution of associate. 
Excluding these one-time write-off items totalling HK$200.1 million, the Group’s net loss would be HK$270.0 million.

The Group’s revenue decreased by 6.6% to HK$994.0 million (2012: HK$1,063.7 million). The gross profit margin however, 
has greatly worsened from 29.2% to 9.7% due to a number of factors. Foremost, its cost of sales increased due to the sharply 
increased labor cost, higher material costs and increased overhead. The declined margin was also caused by sales price 
decrease due to larger incentives provided to the distributors during the year.

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased by 22.3% to HK$221.2 million (2012: HK$180.9 million) as it 
participated in a number of major co-advertisements together with its franchisee distributors during sales campaigns and the 
signing expense of Ms. Lin Chiling, the Group’s new spokesperson. The Group’s administrative expenses also rose sharply by 
42.4% to HK$137.8 million (2012: HK$96.8 million), was mainly due to the results of restructuring exercises and the opening of 
the Tianjin plant. The finance costs of the Group during the year rose moderately at 9% due to the change of loan composition.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Sales and Network Management

During the year under review, the Group like other manufacturers across the Chinese manufacturing industries was faced with 
the problem of excess production capacity. In dealing with its franchisee distributors under such adverse circumstances, the 
Group offered different schemes of sales incentives in order to maintain its market share. In managing its sales network, while 
the Group closed down a number of unprofitable self-operating stores, it took over some franchise stores from the financially 
weakened distributors for management in order to avoid any vacuum in the geographic coverage of the franchise network.

Offline to Online Initiative

During the year, the Group has launched an online store as a new sales channel. Due to its brand reputation in China, it quickly 
established itself as one of the major furniture vendors at the T-Mall of the Alibaba Group. In order to avoid any potential conflict 
with the existing franchisee distributors, the Group crafted out certain newly designed products like sofas for the online store 
without duplications with those of the offline sales channels. Although the current sales volume from this online store is not 
significant for the time being, the Group believes it will offer long term growth potential.

Import Business

In the past year, the Import Division of the Group focused on developing the Duresta Brand (a top end English luxury sofa with 
75 years of history) in the China market. Five Duresta stores were opened in China, of which three are self-operating stores 
namely, Guangzhou, Shanghai and Beijing; and a few more are scheduled to open in 2014. At the beginning of 2014, the 
Group launched an interior designer competition on the internet (http://special.id-china.com.cn/2014/idd/) in collaboration with 
Duresta and Interior Design (the Chinese edition of the US based designer magazine) to promote the Duresta Brand to Chinese 
designers. In light of the depressed demand for luxury goods prevailing in China, no significant monetary contribution to the 
Group would be expected from its import business. Nonetheless, market positioning in the luxury furniture sector is considered 
to be of strategic significance to the long term development of the Group’s business.
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Brand Management

During the year under review, the Group appointed the well-known movie star, Ms. Lin Chiling as the Group’s new spokesperson 
for enhancing its brand image to target a relatively younger group of consumers. This initiative is in line with the Group’s practice 
in the past to refresh its brand image with a new spokesperson after several years of branding exercises. The Group shall 
continue to leverage on its brand recognition across China for enhancing sales.

Production Challenge

The Group as a typical manufacturer in China was squeezed by all cost factors, especially the ever increasing labor cost. As 
the major cities across China were faced with high cost of living, this caused the rural workers to stay at their home towns to 
seek work there. Faced with labor shortage, the Group had to hike its wage rates drastically across the board for retaining and 
hiring both skilled and semi-skilled workers. In addition we were faced with the issue of lower productivity with the newly hired 
workers.

New Plant Facilities

The Group’s Tianjin plant commenced small scale production in the last quarter of 2013 after several months of delay. Amidst 
the presently weak market environment, the Group decided to move much slower than planned in scaling up the Tianjin plant. 
As for the Nanchang plant of the Jiangxi Province under planning, the Group continues to defer major capital expenditure until 
the market condition improves.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group maintained a cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$175.2 million as at 31 December 2013 (2012: HK$408.5 
million).

As at 31 December 2013, in addition to the interest bearing loan amounted to HK$371.3 million (2012: HK$582.9 million), 
the Group has loans from a director and non-controlling interests in a total of HK$64.4 million. As at the year end, the net 
debt divided by capital plus net debt of the Group was 32.4% (2012: 21.2%). Approximately, 66.1% of the Group’s cash was 
denominated in Renminbi with the remaining balance was denominated in Hong Kong Dollars. The exposure to the foreign 
exchange rate fluctuation during the year has been minimal since both of our cash inflow and outflow are predominantly in 
Renminbi.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s current ratio (current assets to current liabilities) has decreased to 1.05 (2012: 1.43) and 
the net current asset has decreased to HK$35.0 million (2012: HK$310.8 million).

Prospects

In light of the Chinese government’s currently tight monetary policy to control the property prices and lack of government 
stimulus in the horizon coupled with the weakening macro-economic outlook, the Group believes that it will continue to face 
strong head winds in the foreseeable future.

During the conferences of the NPC and CPPCC held in early March 2014, the Chinese government put much emphasis on 
quality growth instead of maximizing growth and stressed that no major stimulus plan will be needed in 2014 just as in 2013. 
Under these circumstances, the Group anticipates the coming year will remain a very difficult one for the furniture industry in 
China. It will strive to strengthen its cost cutting measures to improve operating efficiency.

While cost cutting measures will be implemented as a priority for improving our profit margins, the Group will also sharpen its 
focus on sales channel management, especially with regard to the franchisee network. This will help the Group to implement its 
sales and marketing policies more effectively in the coming year. The Group believes its investments in branding in the past and 
improved sales channel management will yield fruitful results over time.

On the longer term horizon, the Group is cautiously optimistic on the Chinese furniture market as the government continues 
with its urbanization policy. In addition, the relaxation on the “One Child” policy for certain categories of families, would mean 
some Chinese households will grow bigger and new furniture will be required. Both policies would be conducive to the long term 
development of the Chinese furniture industry.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
 

A. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

This corporate governance report (the “Corporate Governance Report”) is to outline the major principles of the 
Company’s corporate governance. Shareholders of the Company are encouraged to make their views known to the 
Group if they have issues with the Company’s corporate governance and to directly raise any matters of concern to the 
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman” or the “Chairman of the Board”).

The Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) is set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). For the 
financial year of the Company ended 31 December 2013 (the “Year”) under review, save as disclosed in this Corporate 
Governance Report, the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of the CG 
Code.

B. DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, the Company has adopted codes of conduct 
relating to securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the 
Model Code. Having made specific enquiry with the Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the 
required standard set out in the Model Code regarding the Directors’ securities transactions during the Year.

C. THE BOARD

Roles and responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and be collectively responsible for promoting 
the success of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors should make decisions 
objectively in the interests of the Company. 

While day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the Executive Directors, 
Chief Executive Officer and senior management, the Independent Non-Executive Directors are responsible for:

(a) participating in board meetings of the Company to bring an independent judgement to bear on issue of strategy, 
policy, performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of conduct;

(b) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise;

(c) serving on the audit, remuneration and other governance committees, if invited; and

(d) scrutinizing the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the 
reporting of performance.

The Board provides leadership, approves major policies, reviews and monitors the business performance of the Group, 
approves major funding and investment proposals, as well as the financial statements of the Group. Day-to-day 
management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the Executive Directors, Chief Executive 
Officer and senior management.
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Board Composition

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) during the Year were:

Executive directors (the “Executive Director”):
Mr. Tse Kam Pang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chang Chu Fai J. Francis (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Zeng Lejin (Chief Operating Officer resigned on 20 January 2014)
Mr. Tse Wun Cheung
Mr. Lam Toi (resigned on 31 October 2013)

Independent non-executive directors (the “Independent Non-executive Directors”):
Dr. Donald H. Straszheim
Mr. Lau Chi Kit
Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew

Mr. Zeng Lejin resigned as an Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer with effect from 20 January 2014. The 
Board is in the process of looking for a suitable person to replace Mr. Zeng Lejin’s role.

As at 31 December 2013, the Board consisted of a total of seven members, including four Executive Directors and three 
Independent Non-executive Directors. The name and biographical details of each Director and other senior management 
are set out on pages 20 to 21 of this annual report.

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Vice Chairman and Chief Operating Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive 
Officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual, and that the division of responsibilities 
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be clearly stated.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for leading the Board, and facilitating the business of the Board and the 
effectiveness of individual Director, both during and outside Board meetings. The Chairman plays a key role in the 
development of the Group’s strategy and in ensuring management succession. The Chairman is also required to ensure 
that the principles of good corporate governance and processes of Board meetings are maintained.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible to lead executive management of the Group. The Board sets limits to the 
authorities exercisable by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Executive Officer remains accountable to the Board 
within the limits of delegated authorities. The Chief Executive Officer commits to take overall responsibilities for the 
supervision and the conducts of the Company’s business and its ordinary operation, in accordance with the policies, 
strategies and objectives established by the Group. The Board is responsible to monitor the performance of the Chief 
Executive Officer and to ensure whether the Board’s objectives have been attained.

Mr. Tse Kam Pang, who acts as the chairman and chief executive officer of the Company, is responsible for undertaking 
the main decision-making role in the management of the Company’s overall operations and overseeing the strategic 
development of the Group. The Board will meet regularly to consider and review the major and appropriate issues 
affecting the operations of the Company. As such, the Board considers that the sufficient measures have been taken and 
it will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the management.
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In addition, the Vice Chairman of the Company, and an Executive Director, Mr. Chang Chu Fai J. Francis is responsible 
for assisting the Chairman in formulating our growth strategy and effective running of the Board. The Chief Operating 
Officer of the Company, an Executive Director and Mr. Zeng Lejin, was responsible for the day-to-day management, 
administration and operation of the Company.

Board meeting and procedure

The Company convenes at least four regular Board meetings a year and the Directors shall meet more frequently as and 
when required. At least 14 days’ notice of all regular Board meetings is given to all Directors, and all Directors are given 
the opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. For all other board meetings, reasonable notice should 
be given. During the Year, the Board convened a total of four regular Board meetings and the individual attendance 
record of each Director at such Board meetings is tabulated as follows:

Name

Number of  Board 
meetings held during 

the Director’s term 
of office in 2013

Number of 
meetings attended

Mr. Tse Kam Pang (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman) 4 4
Mr Chang Chu Fai J. Francis (Vice Chairman) 4 4
Mr. Zeng Lejin (Chief Operating Officer) 4 2
Mr. Lam Toi 4 2
Mr. Tse Wun Cheung 4 4
Dr. Donald H. Straszheim 4 4
Mr. Lau Chi Kit 4 4
Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew 4 4

All the Directors have access to relevant and timely information. They also have access to the advice and services of 
the company secretary of the Company, who is responsible for providing the Directors with Board papers and related 
materials. Where queries are raised by the Directors, prompt and full responses will be given if possible.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder of the Company or a Director arise, the matter 
will be discussed in a Board meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by a written resolution. Independent Non-Executive 
Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict issues.

Independent Non-Executive Directors are identified in all corporate communications containing the names of the 
Directors. An updated list of the Directors identifying the Independent Non-Executive Directors and the roles and 
functions of the Directors is maintained on the website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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Dr. Donald H. Straszheim, the Independent Non-executive Director has been reappointed with no fixed term of service 
on 20 May 2013. Mr. Lau Chi Kit and Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew, the Independent Non-executive Directors, have been 
re-appointed with no fixed term of service with the Company on 18 May 2012. They are eligible for re-appointment 
and subject to re-election on retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the Company. 
The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and it still considers the Independent Non-executive Directors 
to be independent.

Skills, knowledge, experience and attributes of Directors

All Directors served in office during the Year. Every Director commits to give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of 
the Company. The Directors also demonstrate their understanding and commit to standards of corporate governance. 
The Executive Director brings his perspectives to the Board through his understanding of the Group’s business. The 
Independent Non-Executive Directors contribute their own skills and experience, understanding of local and global 
economies, and knowledge of capital markets to the Group’s business.

Division of responsibilities between the Board and management

While the Board is responsible for directing and approving the Group’s overall strategies, the Group also has formed 
management teams in its business areas, comprising both the Executive Directors and senior officers of the Group, with 
authority and responsibility for developing and exercising both operational and non-operational duties. The management 
team members of the Group have a wide range of skills, knowledge and experience necessary to govern the Group’s 
operations. All management team members are required to report directly to the Chairman on a regular basis to report 
business performance and operational and functional issues of the Group. This will allow the Group’s management to 
allocate resources more efficiently for its decision-making and facilitate its daily operations.

The Board and the Group’s management fully appreciate their respective roles and are committed to corporate 
governance. The Board is responsible for overseeing the processes by which the management identifies business 
opportunities and risks. The Board’s role is not to manage the day-to-day business operations of the Group and the 
responsibility of which remains vested in the management.

The Board has set up formal procedures for the Board’s decisions. Matters which the Board considers suitable for 
delegation to its committees are contained in the specific terms of reference of its committees. The terms of reference 
clearly define the powers and responsibilities of the Board committees. In addition, the Board will receive reports and/or 
recommendations from time to time from the Board committees on any matter significant to the Group.

Induction and training

Each newly appointed Director, executive or non-executive, is required to undertake an induction program to ensure 
that he has proper understanding of his duties and responsibilities. The induction program includes an overview of the 
Group’s business operation and governance policies, the Board meetings’ procedures, matters reserved to the Board, 
an introduction of the Board committees, the Directors’ responsibilities and duties, relevant regulatory requirements, and 
briefings with senior officers of the Group and site visits (if necessary).

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure their contribution to the Board remains 
informed and relevant. During the Year, all Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional development 
activities by ways of attending training and/or reading materials relevant to the Company’s business or to the Directors’ 
duties and responsibilities.
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The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) maintains records of training attended by the 
Directors. The training attended by each Director during the Year is tabulated as follows:

Training Records

Name
Type of 

trainings Training matters
(Note 1) (Note 2)

Mr. Tse Kam Pang (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman) a, b i, ii, iii, iv
Mr Chang Chu Fai J. Francis (Vice Chairman) a, b i, ii, iii, iv
Mr. Zeng Lejin (Chief Operating Officer) a, b i, ii, iii, iv
Mr. Lam Toi (resigned on 31 October 2013) a, b i, ii, iii, iv
Mr. Tse Wun Cheung a, b i, ii, iii, iv
Dr. Donald H. Straszheim a, b i, ii, iii, iv
Mr. Lau Chi Kit a, b i, ii, iii, iv
Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew a, b i, ii, iii, iv

Note 1:

a – attending seminar or training session

b – self-development and updates relating to general economy, business development, director’s duties and responsibilities, etc.

Note 2:

i – corporate governance

ii – regulatory compliance

iii – finance

iv – management and operation

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its Directors and officers in respect of legal 
actions against the Directors and/or officers. Throughout the Year, no claim was made against the Directors and the 
officers of the Company.

Independent advice

The Board and its committees may seek advice from independent professional advisors whenever it considers 
appropriate. Each Director, with the consent of the Chairman of the Board and/or the chairman of the audit committee, 
may seek independent professional advice on matters connected with the Company to perform his responsibilities, at 
the Group’s expense. No Director exercised his right for independent professional advice during the Year.



 

Royale Furniture Holdings Limited  |  Annual Report 201312

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
 

Independence of Non-Executive Directors

Three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Dr. Donald H. Straszheim, Mr. Lau Chi Kit and Mr. Yue Man Yiu 
Matthew were considered to be independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Also, the three Independent Non-Executive Directors, representing over one-third of the Board, constituted a proper 
balance of power maintaining full and effective control of both the Group and its executive management.

Dr. Straszheim has been serving the Company as an Independent Non-executive Director since September 2004. In the 
process of assessing his independence, each of the factors referred to in Listing Rule 3.13(1) to (8) has been confirmed 
by him. In line with this, the Company recognizes the continued independence of Dr. Straszheim under Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules. Serving as an Independent Non-executive Director, Dr. Straszheim has always brought high standards of 
corporate governance to the Company and contributed objectively in advising, as well as monitoring and mentoring the 
management of the Company. Being familiar with the corporate values of the Company, the presence of Dr. Straszheim 
has enhanced these values by his sustained development of a strong advisory relationship with the Company. The 
Board therefore believes that Dr. Straszheim should be re-elected to enable the Company to continue to benefit from his 
experience and advice to the Company.

Company secretary

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures and 
all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating communications among 
Directors as well as with management.

During the Year, the Company Secretary had confirmed that she had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional 
training.

Relationships and associations among the Directors

Mr. Tse Wun Cheung is a nephew of Mr. Tse Kam Pang, who is the Chairman of the Company. Save as disclosed, there 
was no other relationship between members of the Board (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant 
relationship(s)).

D. BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established the following Board committees to oversee 
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their 
duties.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2013, the audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) consisted of three Independent 
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew, who is the chairman of the Audit Committee, Dr. Donald H. 
Straszheim and Mr. Lau Chi Kit. The Audit Committee meets regularly, normally two times a year, with the senior financial 
management and meets with external auditor twice a year for final result reviews.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of the Audit 
Committee can be viewed on the website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.



 

Royale Furniture Holdings Limited  |  Annual Report 2013 13

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
 

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

1. To monitor the integrity of the annual and interim reports as well as to review significant financial reporting 
judgments before submission to the Board and to report to the Board;

2. To review the relationship with the external auditor; and

3. To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control system 
and risk management system and associated procedures.

There were two meetings of the Audit Committee held during 2013. Details of the members’ attendance record in the 
year are as follows:

Directors Attendance

Name

Number of 
Audit Committee 

meetings held in 2013
Number of 

meetings attended

Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew (Chairman) 2 2
Dr. Donald H. Straszheim 2 2
Mr. Lau Chi Kit 2 2

During the Year, the Audit Committee performed the following work (in summary):

(a) The Audit Committee assisted the Board in assuring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements, 
including reviewed the financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 and the interim 
results for the six months ended 30 June 2013. It evaluated and made recommendations to the Board about 
the appropriateness of accounting policies and practices, areas of judgment, compliance with Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards and other legal requirements, and the results of external audit. It reviewed 
interim and annual financial statements of the Company, reported its work and findings to the Board and made 
recommendations on specific actions or decision for the Board to consider after each Audit Committee’s 
meeting. Minutes of the Audit Committee’s meetings were made available to all Directors for inspection.

(b) The Audit Committee also managed the relationship with the external auditors on behalf of the Board. It 
made recommendation to the Board on the appointment of the external auditors and the relevant terms of 
engagement, including remuneration. The Audit Committee was required to review the integrity, independence 
and objectivity of the external auditors. Also, it examined the external auditors’ independence including its 
engagement of nonaudit services. Based on the review of the Audit Committee, the Board was satisfied that the 
external auditors were independent. During 2013, there was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit 
Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors.

(c) The Audit Committee was required to ensure that the system of internal control of the Group was in place for 
identifying and managing risks. The Audit Committee had reviewed the effectiveness of internal controls for the 
Year. Such review covered financial, operational and compliance controls and risk assessment of the Group. The 
Board was satisfied that the effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group had been properly reviewed by the 
Audit Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee in accordance with the relevant requirements of the CG Code. 
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Lau Chi Kit, and comprising two other members, namely Dr. Donald 
H. Straszheim and Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew. All the members of the Remuneration Committee are Independent 
Non-executive Directors. The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include formulating a 
remuneration policy that guides the employment of senior personnel, recommending to the Board the remuneration of 
members of the Board who are Independent Non-executive Directors, determining the remuneration packages of the 
members of the Board who are executive Directors and reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by 
reference to the Company’s goals, objectives and market practices and ensure no Director involved in deciding his own 
remuneration.

There were two meetings of the Remuneration Committee held in 2013. Details of the members attendance record in the 
year are as follows:

Directors Attendance

Name

Number of 
Remuneration 

Committee meetings 
held in 2013

Number of 
meetings attended

Mr. Lau Chi Kit (Chairman) 2 2
Dr. Donald H. Straszheim 2 2
Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew 2 2

Details of the remuneration of each Director for 2013 is set out in the Note 8 to this Annual Report.

Roles and functions

According to the written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, the Remuneration Committee has adopted 
the model to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual Executive Director(s) and 
senior management including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payment comprising any compensation 
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment. It also makes recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration of Non-executive Directors. Its principal role is to assist the Board to oversee the policy and structure of 
the remuneration of the Executive Director(s) of the Company and senior management of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties. The current duties and 
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are more specifically set out in its latest terms of reference, details of 
which can be viewed on the website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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The following is a summary of work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year:

(a) formulating and recommending the policy and structure of the remuneration of the Directors and senior 
management of the Group to the Board;

(b) assessing individual performance of the Directors and senior management of the Group;

(c) reviewing specific remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management of the Group with reference to 
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives as well as individual performances; and

(d) reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on compensation-related issues.

Principles of remuneration policy

The principles of the Group’s remuneration policy:

1. were applied to all Directors and senior management of the Group for the Year and, so far as practicable, shall be 
applied to them for subsequent years;

2. were sufficiently flexible taking into account future changes in the Company’s business environment and 
remuneration practice;

3. allowed remuneration arrangement to be designed to support the business strategy of the Group and to align 
with the interests of the Group’s shareholders; and

4. aimed at setting appropriate reward levels to reflect the competitiveness in the market in which comparable 
companies and the Group had been operating during the Year so as to retain individuals with outstanding 
performance.

Remuneration structure

Under the above remuneration policy, the remuneration package of each Executive Director and senior management of 
the Group during the Year was structured to include:

(a) an appropriate rate of base compensation for the job of each Executive Director and senior management of the 
Group;

(b) competitive benefit programs; and

(c) sets of performance measures and targets for performance-related annual and long-term incentive plans based 
on the appropriate independent advice and/or an assessment of the interests of shareholders of the Company 
and taking into account an appropriate balance of risk and reward for the Directors and other participants.

The work and findings together with recommendations of the Remuneration Committee were presented to the Board 
after the Remuneration Committee’s meetings. Minutes of the Remuneration Committee’s meeting were made available 
to all the Directors for inspection. No Director or any of his associates was involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Board was established on 29 March 2012 and comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors. The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Lau Chi Kit, and comprising two other members, 
namely Dr. Donald H. Straszheim and Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew. The Nomination Committee meets formally at least 
once a year.

Two Nomination Committee meetings were held during the Year. The following is a summary of the work performed by 
the Nomination Committee during the Year:

(a) reviewing and evaluating the composition of the Board with reference to certain criteria. These criteria included 
qualifications required under the Listing Rules or any other relevant laws regarding characteristics and skills of 
the Directors, professional ethics and integrity, appropriate professional knowledge and industry experience, as 
well as ability to devote sufficient time to the work of the Board and its committees and to participate in all Board 
meetings and shareholders’ meetings;

(b) reviewing and recommending the re-appointment of the retiring Directors for re-election; and

(c) assessing independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors.

The individual attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee is tabulated as follows:

Directors Attendance

Name

Number of 
Remuneration 

Committee meetings 
held in 2013

Number of 
meetings attended

Mr. Lau Chi Kit (Chairman) 2 2
Dr. Donald H. Straszheim 2 2
Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew 2 2

According to the written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the Nomination 
Committee include:

(a) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board 
at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the 
Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and select or make recommendations 
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession 
planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer.

Details of the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee can be viewed on the website of the Company and the 
website of the Stock Exchange.
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E. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility for the Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the accounts of the Group and ensure that the 
accounts are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The accounts are 
prepared on a going concern basis, the members of the Board have selected appropriate accounting policies and apart 
from those new and amended accounting policies disclosed in the notes to the accounts during the year ended 31 
December 2013, have applied them consistently with previous financial periods. The statement of our Auditors about 
their responsibility on the accounts is included in the Independent Auditors’ Report. For the annual reports and accounts, 
the Company’s finance department is responsible for clearing them with the External Auditor and then the Audit 
Committee. In addition, all new accounting standards and requirements adopted by the Group have been discussed and 
approved by the Audit Committee.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is 
set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on page 28 of this Annual Report.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

Prior to the commencement of the audit of the Group’s 2013 financial statements, the Audit Committee received written 
confirmation from the external auditor of its independence and objectivity. The external auditor refrained from engaging 
in non-assurance services except for limited tax-related services or specifically approved items. The Audit Committee 
reviews the external auditor’s statutory audit scope and non-audit services and approves its fees. During the year ended 
31 December 2013, the remuneration paid or payable to external auditor for audit services and non-audit services 
amounted to HK$1,980,000 (2012: HK$1,980,000) and Nil (2012: HK$300,000), respectively.

Internal Controls

The internal audit department, which is independent to the Company’s daily operations and accounting functions, is 
responsible for establishing the Group’s internal control framework, covering all material controls including financial, 
operational and compliance controls.

The internal control framework also provides for identification and management of risk.

The internal audit department also formulates the internal audit plan and procedures, conducts periodic independent 
reviews on the operations of individual divisions to identify any irregularities and risks, develops action plans and 
recommendations to address the identified risks, and reports to the management on any key findings and progress of 
the internal audit process.

The Board, through the internal audit department, has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control system for the year ended 31 December 2013 covering all material financial, operational and compliance controls 
and risk management functions, and is satisfied that such system are effective and adequate.
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F. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The AGM is one of the principal channels of communication with its shareholders. It provides an opportunity for 
shareholders to question Directors about the Company’s performance. The detailed procedures for conducting a poll 
will be explained at each general meetings. Registered shareholders are notified by post of the AGM. Any registered 
shareholder is entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, provided that his/her/its shares have been fully paid up and 
recorded in the register of the members of the Company.

The Group endeavors to disclose relevant information on its activities to its shareholders in an open and timely manner, 
subject to applicable legal requirements. Communication between the Company and its shareholders is achieved 
through:

(a) The Company’s annual and interim reports which have been enhanced to present a balanced, clear and 
comprehensive assessment of the Group’s position and prospects;

(b) Forum and notices of AGMs and other general meetings and accompanying explanatory materials;

(c) Press releases on major development of the Group;

(d) Disclosures to the Stock Exchange and relevant regulatory bodies;

(e) Response to inquiries from shareholders or media; and

(f) The website of the Company through which the public can access, among other things, corporate 
announcements, press releases, annual reports, and general corporate information of the Group.

The communication channels between the Company and its shareholders above will be reviewed by the Board on a 
regular basis to ensure their effectiveness in maintaining an on-going dialogue with shareholders.

Constructive use of AGMs

The Board and the management are committed to the constructive use of the AGM as a forum to meet with 
shareholders and to hear their views and answer their questions about the Group and its business.

The Chairman and a majority of the other Directors along with key executives and the external auditor attended the 
2013 AGM and addressed concerns raised by a number of Shareholders about the resolutions being proposed and 
the Company’s business. The Directors in attendance included those who were chairing the Audit Committee, the 
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on the date of the meeting.

Shareholders’ Rights

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the shareholders of the Company.
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(a) Convening of extraordinary general meeting on requisition by shareholders

Any one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up 
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the 
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting 
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall 
be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit 
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionst(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the 
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board 
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

(b) Procedures for putting forward proposals at a Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions at the general meetings under the 
Cayman Islands Companies Law (as amended from time to time) or the articles of association of the Company. 
However, Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene an extraordinary 
general meeting following the procedures set out above.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director are available on the 
Company’s website.

(c) Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board in writing to the principal office of the Company in Hong 
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the 
objects of the enquiries.

G. INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the Year, there was no significant change in the company’s constitutional documents. The Company regards the 
communication with institutional investors as an important means to enhance the transparency of the Company and 
to collect views and feedback from institutional investors. In the Year, the Company also communicated with investors 
through press conferences, news release, and answering enquiries from media. Shareholders, investors and interested 
parties can make enquiries to the Company through the following means:

By e-mail: info@chitaly.com.hk
Telephone number: (852) 2636-6648
By post: Room 204, 2/F Wing On Plaza
 62 Mody Road
 Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon
 Hong Kong
Attention: Public Relationship
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Pang, aged 59, is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Prior to the founding of the 
Group, Mr. Tse previously held the position of the Deputy Managing Director in a public listed company in Hong Kong. Mr. Tse 
has over 20 years of experience in the international trade and China trade business.

Mr. CHANG Chu Fai Johnson Francis, aged 59, has been appointed as the Vice Chairman and redesignated as an Executive 
Director of the Company with effect from 1 August 2012. Mr. Chang has also resigned as the Chairman and the member 
of the Remuneration Committee, the member of the Audit Committee and the member of the Nomination Committee of the 
Company with effect from 3 August 2012. He had been an Independent Non-executive Director from July 2005 to July 2012. 
He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Concordia University in Montreal, Canada since 1976 and a Master’s Degree 
in Business Administration from York University in Toronto, Canada since 1977. He has over thirty-six years of experience in 
banking, corporate finance, investment and management and has held various executive positions at financial institutions and 
directorships of listed companies. Mr. Chang is currently the Managing Director of Ceres Consultancy Limited and a registered 
person under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. He is also an independent non-executive director of Tian An China 
Investments Company Limited and APAC Resources Limited. He was previously the chairman and an executive director of Trasy 
Gold Ex Limited, an executive director of China Financial Leasing Group Limited, the deputy chairman and an independent non-
executive director of Allied Overseas Limited and the managing director of Ceres Capital Limited.

Mr. ZENG Lejin, aged 42, is the Chief Operating Officer of the Company. He graduated from the Guangdong Business College 
with a bachelor degree of metropolitan economy and management majoring in statistics. He joined the main subsidiary of the 
Company in China during 1999 and is responsible for the internal audit of the operation of the Company’s major subsidiaries in 
China and advises on the development of their policies. He has over 10 years of experience in enterprise management.

Mr. TSE Wun Cheung, aged 42, holds a Bachelor Degree of Engineering majoring in Mechanical Engineering from The 
University of Hong Kong. He has extensive experience in enterprise management mainly focusing in manufacturing and 
purchasing. Mr. Tse is also a nephew of Mr. Tse Kam Pang, being the Chairman of the Company.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Donald H. STRASZHEIM, aged 72, is the Senior Managing Director and Head of China Research for ISI Group. ISI Group 
is an independent broker-dealer, headquartered in New York City, specializing in research, sales and trading, primarily for large 
global institutional money managers. He holds a B.S., M.S. and Ph.D. from Purdue University, is a visiting Scholar at UCLA’s 
Anderson School of Management, and a regular writer and commentator on economic, business and financial issues in the 
global media, and is a recognized China specialist. He has testified before the U.S. Congress on various economic issues. 
For many years he was Managing Principal of Straszheim Global Advisors, Inc., an economics, business, financial markets 
and public policy consultancy founded in 2001 with a focus on China. The firm had offices in America and China. From 1985 
to 1997, Dr. Straszheim was the Chief Economist of Merrill Lynch and Co. (“Merrill Lynch”), in New York, guiding its world-
wide economic research effort and serving as its primary economic spokesperson. He has also been the Vice Chairman of 
Roth Capital Partners, Chief Economist at Wharton Econometrics at the University of Pennsylvania, and Chief Economist of 
Weyerhaeuser Company.



 

Royale Furniture Holdings Limited  |  Annual Report 2013 21

MANAGEMENT PROFILE
 

Mr. LAU Chi Kit, aged 69, retired from The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (“HSBC”) in December 2000 
after more than 35 years of service. Among the major positions in HSBC, he was the assistant general manager and head of 
Personal Banking Hong Kong and assistant general manager and head of Strategic Implementation, Asia-Pacific Region. He 
is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers (“Institute”). He was the chairman of the Institute’s Executive Committee 
(from January 1999 to December 2000) and is currently the honorary advisor of the Institute’s Executive Committee. He served 
as a member on a number of committees appointed by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administration Region, 
including the Advisory Council on the Environment (from October 1998 to December 2001), the Advisory Committee on Human 
Resources Development in the Financial Services Sector (from June 2000 to May 2001), the Corruption Prevention Advisory 
Committee of the Independent Commission Against Corruption (from January 2000 to December 2003), the Environment and 
Conservation Fund Committee (from August 2000 to October 2006), the Innovation and Technology Fund (Environment) Projects 
Vetting Committee (from January 2000 to December 2004) and the Law Reform Commission’s Privacy Sub-committee (from 
February 1990 to March 2006). He also served as chairman of the Business Environment Council Limited (from September 1998 
to December 2001). Currently, he is an executive director of Chinlink International Holdings Limited (stock code: 997) and an 
independent non-executive director of Ford Glory Holdings Limited (stock code: 1682).

Mr. YUE Man Yiu Matthew, aged 52, has been the chief financial officer of Ko Shi Wai Holdings Limited since September 
2009. He has been a director of China-Link Capital Management Limited since September 2009 and was the chief financial 
officer of the same firm from August 2005 to August 2009. Mr. Yue is currently an independent non-executive director of two 
Hong Kong listed companies, namely, Asia Cassava Resources Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 841) and China Suntien Green 
Energy Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 956). He graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree 
in business administration in 1984. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. He has extensive experience 
in financial control, project analysis and management functions and has the related financial expertise.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. PANG Jim, aged 52, is the chief financial officer of the Group. He has more than 27 years of professional experience in 
corporate finance and accounting. Before joining the Company, he has been a partner and director of a private equity fund 
management and advisory firm registered in Tianjin. Prior to this, he was an investment director in the Kingsway Group, a 
Hong Kong-listed investment bank. He was also the corporate treasurer of NASDAQ-listed Chinadotcom Corporation and the 
corporate financial controller of China Strategic Holdings Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange. Trained as a chartered 
accountant at PricewaterhouseCoopers in Canada, Mr. Pang also earned an MBA from the University of Windsor in Canada. He 
is currently a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants.

Ms. CHAN Wei Fun, aged 36, is the financial controller of the Group and Company Secretary of the Company. She is 
responsible for the financial management, accounting and company secretarial duties of the Group. She graduated from 
the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in business administration. She is an associate member of the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the member of American Institute of CPAs. She has over 14 years of 
experience in auditing, accounting and financial management in the international accounting firm and listed companies. She 
joined the Group in 2010.

Mr. WU Yuan Cheng, aged 41, is the financial controller of the PRC operation and joined the Group in 1999. He is responsible 
for the Group’s accounting and financial management in the PRC. He graduated from Southwest Agricultural University 
majoring in accounting and auditing. He has several years of experience in financial management, accounting and corporate 
administration.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 to 
the shareholder of the Company.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in 
note 18 to the financial statements. There was no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the 
year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2013 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are 
set out in the financial statements on pages 29 to 91.

No interim dividend was declared and paid during the year. No final dividend was declared during the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 92. This 
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial 
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the year are set out in notes 29 and 30 to the 
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands 
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during 
the year under review.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 31 to the financial 
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2013, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provision of the 
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$53.1 million.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable contributions (2012: HK$Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 6% of the total sales for the 
year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 2%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers 
accounted for approximately 8% of the total purchase for the year and purchase from the Group’s largest supplier included 
therein amounted to 2%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more 
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL MANDATE

On 2 August 2013, a total of 232,000,000 ordinary shares were placed to Great Diamond Developments Limited, an 
Independent Third Party, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Placing Agreement. Reference is made to the 
announcement of the Company dated 18 July 2013 in relation to the placing of new shares of the Company under a general 
mandate (the “Announcement”).

The net proceeds from placing, after deducting professional fees and all related expenses, were approximately HK$76,374,000. 
As at 31 December 2013, all proceeds have been applied in accordance with the plans disclosed in the Announcement.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Tse Kam Pang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chang Chu Fai J. Francis (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Zeng Lejin (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Lam Toi (resigned on 31 October 2013)
Mr. Tse Wun Cheung

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. Donald H. Straszheim
Mr. Lau Chi Kit
Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the Directors will retire by rotation and, being 
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Details of the Directors to be retired and offered for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting are contained in the 
circular to be despatched to the shareholders of the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Dr. Donald H. Straszheim, Mr. Lau Chi Kit and Mr. Yue 
Man Yiu Matthew as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 20 and 21 of the annual 
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Tse Kam Pang has entered into service agreements with the Company for an initial term of two years commencing from 1 
May 2002, respectively, which will be automatically renewed thereafter until terminated by two months’ prior notice in writing 
served by either party to the other. Mr. Chang Chu Fai J. Francis, has entered into a service agreement with the Company for 
a term of two years commencing from 1 August 2012, which will be automatically renewed thereafter until terminated by two 
months’ prior notice in writing served by either party to the other. Mr. Zeng Lejin, has entered into a service agreement with 
the Company for a term of two years commencing from 19 April 2010, which will be automatically renewed thereafter until 
terminated by two months’ prior notice in writing served by either party to the other. Mr. Tse Wun Cheung has entered into 
a service agreement with the Company for a term of two years commencing from 15 June 2012, which will be automatically 
renewed thereafter until terminated by two months’ prior notice in writing served by either party to the other.

Dr. Donald H. Straszheim, independent non-executive Directors, have also entered into letters of appointment with the Company 
commencing from 18 May 2011 and shall continue for a term of 2 years therefrom unless otherwise agreed. Mr. Lau Chi Kit and 
Mr. Yue Man Yiu Matthew have entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of two years commencing from 
18 May 2012, which will be automatically renewed thereafter until terminated by two months’ prior notice in writing served by 
either party to the other. All Directors are subject to retirement and re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with 
the rotation requirements under the articles of association of the Company.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract 
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than 
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board 
with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had any material interest in any contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company, fellow 
subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive in the shares (the “Shares”) and 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of Securities 
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

Number of Shares and underlying Shares held, 
capacity and nature of interest

Name of director Notes

Directly
beneficially

owned

Through
controlled

corporation Total

Percentage of
the Company’s

issued share
capital

Mr. Tse Kam Pang (a), (d) 58,162,769 395,609,042 453,771,811 32.57
Mr. Chang Chu Fai J. Francis (d) 9,440,271 – 9,440,271 0.68
Mr. Zeng Lejin (b), (d) 8,819,222 – 8,819,222 0.63
Mr. Tse Wun Cheung (c), (d) 13,185,853 – 13,185,853 0.95
Dr. Donald H. Straszheim (d) 1,263,547 – 1,263,547 0.09
Mr. Lau Chi Kit (d) 1,260,000 – 1,260,000 0.09
Mr. Yue Man Yue Matthew (d) 1,260,000 – 1,260,000 0.09

Notes:

(a) The 51,833,769 Shares are directly beneficially owned by Mr. Tse Kam Pang. Of these 395,609,042 Shares, 185,840,120 Shares 

are held by Crisana International Inc. (“Crisana”) and 209,768,922 Shares are held by Charming Future Holdings Limited (“Charming 

Future”), both are companies wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Tse Kam Pang, who is deemed to be interested in the aggregate of 

395,609,042 Shares held by these companies.

(b) The 4,034,000 Shares are directly beneficially owned by Mr. Zeng Lejin.

(c) The 8,685,853 Shares are directly beneficially owned by Mr. Tse Wun Cheung.

(d) These represent Shares to be issued upon exercise of the share options granted to them, details of which are set out in note 30 to the 

financial statement.

No Directors has any non-beneficial personal equity interests in subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Company solely for the 
purpose of complying with the minimum company membership requirements. 

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none of the Directors had any interest or short position in the shares, 
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded 
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model 
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates had any interest in a business which competes or is likely to 
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed in the share option scheme disclosures in note 30 to the financial statements, at no time during the year were 
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their 
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or 
any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any 
other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2013, the following persons who were interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company 
were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions:

Name Notes
Capacity and nature

of interest

Number of
ordinary

shares held

Percentage of
the Company’s

issued share
capital

Crisana (a) Directly beneficially owned 185,840,120 13.34%
Charming Future (b) Directly beneficially owned 209,768,922 15.05%
Great Diamond Developments Limited (c) Directly beneficially owned 232,000,000 16.65%

Notes:

(a) Crisana is wholly owned by Mr. Tse Kam Pang, a director of the Company.

(b) Charming Future is wholly owned by Mr. Tse Kam Pang, a director of the Company.

(c) Great Diamond Developments Limited is owned by Mr. Wong Shu Yui (as to 35%), Ms. Chan Siu Ying (as to 25%), Mr. Wong Kai Kei (as 

to 20%) and Mr. Wong Yim (as to 20%).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, no person, other than the directors and chief executive of the Company, 
whose interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares, 
underlying shares and debentures” above, had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company 
that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the 
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this Annual Report.
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EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 December 2013 was 3,350 (2012: 3,770). The Group’s remuneration 
policies are in line with local market practices where the Group operates and are normally reviewed on an annual basis. In 
addition to salary payments, there are other staff benefits including provident fund, medical insurance and performance related 
bonus. Share options may also be granted to eligible employees and persons of the Group. At 31 December 2013, there were 
51,747,906 outstanding share options.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 8 to the financial statements. The emoluments paid to the senior
management (excluding the Directors) during the year ended 31 December 2013 were within the following bands:

Number of
Bands Senior Management

HK$100,000 to HK$500,000 1
HK$500,000 to HK$1,000,000 1
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1

Total: 3

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate 
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 7 to 19.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purpose 
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls. The audit committee 
comprises the three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company. The financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 together with the notes attached thereto have been reviewed by the audit 
committee, which was of the opinion that such statements complied with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules 
and the legal requirements, and that adequate disclosure has been made.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and offer themselves for reappointment as auditors of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

TSE Kam Pang
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong
31 March 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
 

Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

Tel : +852 2846 9888
Fax : +852 2868 4432
ey.com

1
22

To the shareholders of Royale Furniture Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Royale Furniture Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 29 to 91, which comprise the consolidated and company statements of 
financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made 
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the 
Group as at 31 December 2013, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
31 March 2014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
Year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 5 994,032 1,063,736

Cost of sales (897,566) (753,375)

Gross profit 96,466 310,361

Other income 5 15,071 14,910
Selling and distribution expenses (221,160) (180,850)
Administrative expenses (137,790) (96,771)
Finance costs 7 (20,456) (18,764)
Share of profits of associates 2,352 5,023
Impairment of trade receivables, net 6 (60,652) –
Impairment of goodwill 6 (123,138) –
Other expenses 6 (16,333) –

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 (465,640) 33,909

Income tax expense 10 (4,475) (8,895)

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (470,115) 25,014

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 11 (455,793) 21,629
Non-controlling interests (14,322) 3,385

(470,115) 25,014

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13

Basic (36.25) cents 2.46 cents

Diluted (36.25) cents 2.44 cents

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (470,115) 25,014

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Available-for-sale investments:
Changes in fair value 20 138 2,115
Reclassification adjustments for gains included in 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss 20 180 –

318 2,115

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 58,977 10,030
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 764 –

Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods 60,059 12,145

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Gain on property revaluation 14 – 45,981
Income tax effect 28 – (8,556)

– 37,425

Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods – 37,425

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 60,059 49,570

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR (410,056) 74,584

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (399,590) 70,350
Non-controlling interests (10,466) 4,234

(410,056) 74,584
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,371,755 1,285,522
Prepaid land lease payments 15 212,988 211,862
Goodwill 16 67,730 190,868
Intangible assets 17 1,316 1,397
Investments in associates 19 40,153 53,370
Available-for-sale investments 20 2,435 8,137

Total non-current assets 1,696,377 1,751,156

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 21 361,014 322,407
Trade receivables 22 53,586 91,683
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 23 139,676 184,658
Pledged deposits 24 – 20,000
Cash and cash equivalents 24 175,199 408,471

Total current assets 729,475 1,027,219

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 25 132,089 76,791
Other payables and accruals 26 249,410 196,027
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 27 137,768 338,445
Loans from a director 36(c) 28,374 –
Loan from non-controlling interests 32 36,019 –
Tax payable 110,819 105,190

Total current liabilities 694,479 716,453

NET CURRENT ASSETS 34,996 310,766

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,731,373 2,061,922
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,731,373 2,061,922

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 27 233,521 244,457
Deferred tax liabilities 28 39,410 41,385
Deferred government grant 12,807 –

Total non-current liabilities 285,738 285,842

Net assets 1,445,635 1,776,080

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Issued capital 29 139,338 116,138
Reserves 31(a) 1,201,867 1,538,658
Proposed final dividend 12 – 6,388

1,341,205 1,661,184
Non-controlling interests 104,430 114,896

Total equity 1,445,635 1,776,080

TSE Kam Pang TSE Wun Cheung
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2013

Attributable to owners of the Company

Issued 
capital

Share 
premium 
account

Share 
option 

reserve

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Available-
for-sale 

investment 
revaluation 

reserve
Statutory 

reserve

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve
Retained 

profits

Proposed 
final 

dividend Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2012 68,232 614,940 21,543 100,637 (2,410) 4,291 155,180 434,299 54,610 1,451,322 87,080 1,538,402

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 21,629 – 21,629 3,385 25,014
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Gains on property revaluation, net of tax – – – 37,425 – – – – – 37,425 – 37,425
Change in fair value of available-for-sale 

investments, net of tax 20 – – – – 2,115 – – – – 2,115 – 2,115
Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations – – – – – – 9,181 – – 9,181 849 10,030

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 37,425 2,115 – 9,181 21,629 – 70,350 4,234 74,584
Final 2011 dividend declared – – – – – – – – (54,610) (54,610) – (54,610)
Equity-settled share option expense 30 – – 7,246 – – – – – – 7,246 – 7,246
Exercise of share options 29 648 2,799 (390) – – – – – – 3,057 – 3,057
Cancellation of share options – – (27,087) – – – – 27,834 – 747 – 747
Bonus issue 29 8,545 (8,545) – – – – – – – – – –
Open offer 29 38,713 158,722 – – – – – – – 197,435 – 197,435
Open offer expenses 29 – (6,686) – – – – – – – (6,686) – (6,686)
Capital injection in a subsidiary – – – – – – – – – – 27,840 27,840
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders – – – – – – – – – – (7,807) (7,807)
Acquisition of a subsidiary – – – – – – – – – – 7,067 7,067
Acquisition of non-controlling interests – – – – – – – (7,677) – (7,677) (3,518) (11,195)
Proposed 2012 final dividend 12 – – – – – – – (6,388) 6,388 – – –
Appropriations of statutory reserve – – – – – 2,019 – (2,019) – – – –

At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013 116,138 761,230* 1,312* 138,062* (295)* 6,310* 164,361* 467,678* 6,388 1,661,184 114,896 1,776,080

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (455,793) – (455,793) (14,322) (470,115)
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Available-for-sale investments:
Change in fair value of available-for-sale 

investments, net of tax 20 – – – – 138 – – – – 138 – 138
Reclassification adjustments for gains 

included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss 20 – – – – 180 – – – – 180 – 180

Exchange differences on translation of 
foreign operations – – – – – – 55,121 – – 55,121 3,856 58,977

Share of other comprehensive income of 
associates – – – – – – 764 – – 764 – 764

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – 318 – 55,885 (455,793) – (399,590) (10,466) (410,056)
Final 2012 dividend declared – – – – – – – – (6,388) (6,388) – (6,388)
Equity-settled share option expense 30 – – 9,625 – – – – – – 9,625 – 9,625
Transfer from asset revaluation reserve – – – (7,051) – – – 7,051 – – – –
Issue of shares 29 23,200 55,448 – – – – – – – 78,648 – 78,648
Shares issue expenses 29 – (2,274) – – – – – – – (2,274) – (2,274)
Appropriations of statutory reserve – – – – – 651 – (651) – – – –

At 31 December 2013 139,338 814,404* 10,937* 131,011* 23* 6,961* 220,246* 18,285* – 1,341,205 104,430 1,445,635

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$1,201,867,000 (2012: HK$1,538,658,000) in the consolidated 

statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax (465,640) 33,909
Adjustments for:

Finance costs 7 20,456 18,764
Share of profits of associates (2,352) (5,023)
Bank interest income 5 (276) (1,092)
Other interest income 5 (596) (3,258)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments 5 (673) –
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 6 – 2,088
Depreciation 6 87,545 61,561
Recognition of prepaid land lease payments 6 5,052 4,994
Amortisation of intangible assets 6 1,139 974
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 6 17,334 –
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables 6 (7,917) (385)
Impairment of trade receivables 6 68,569 –
Impairment of goodwill 6 123,138 –
Impairment of investments in associates 6 15,875 –
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate 6 458 –
Equity-settled share option expense 30 9,625 7,246
Expenses recognised for cancellation of share options 6 – 747

(128,263) 120,525
Increase in inventories (43,703) (47,423)
Increase in trade receivables (19,843) (13,872)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 51,588 8,119
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 53,026 (14,373)
Increase in other payables and accruals 49,584 66,112

Cash generated from operations (37,611) 119,088
Income taxes paid (3,933) (3,760)

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities (41,544) 115,328
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities (41,544) 115,328

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 872 4,350
Decrease in loans to associates – 8,469
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment 14 (139,942) (175,595)
Additions to prepaid land lease payments 15 – (72,782)
Additions to intangible assets 17 (1,016) –
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 2,755 4,655
Decrease in pledged deposits 20,000 –
Acquisition of a subsidiary – (80,464)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests – (11,195)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments 6,693 –
Receipt of government grant 12,807 –

Net cash flows used in investing activities (97,831) (322,562)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from exercise of share options – 3,057
Net proceeds from open offer – 190,749
Net proceeds from placing of shares 29 76,374 –
Capital injection in a subsidiary from the non-controlling shareholder – 27,840
Dividend paid to the non-controlling shareholders – (7,807)
New bank and other loans 343,971 318,248
Repayment of bank loans (555,584) (149,100)
Loans from a director 28,072 –
Loan from non-controlling interests 34,593 –
Interest paid (18,728) (18,764)
Dividends paid (6,388) (54,610)

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities (97,690) 309,613

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (237,065) 102,379
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 408,471 304,135
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 3,793 1,957

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 175,199 408,471

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents 24 175,199 408,471
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 18 1,100,857 1,344,115

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments 23 244 3,093
Cash and cash equivalents 24 397 247

Total current assets 641 3,340

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables 26 3,708 3,212
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 27 – 168,747

Total current liabilities 3,708 171,959

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (3,067) (168,619)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,097,790 1,175,496

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 27 80,000 224,996
Financial guarantee contracts 33 – 4,473

Total non-current liabilities 80,000 229,469

Net assets 1,017,790 946,027

EQUITY
Issued capital 29 139,338 116,138
Reserves 31(b) 878,452 823,501
Proposed final dividend 12 – 6,388

Total equity 1,017,790 946,027

TSE Kam Pang TSE Wun Cheung
Director Director
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2013

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Royale Furniture Holdings Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered 
office address of the Company is located at Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, Grand Cayman, the Cayman 
Islands.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the Company’s 
subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the 
subsidiaries’ principal activities during the year.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate and ultimate holding companies of the Group are Crisana International Inc. 
and Charming Future Holding Limited, which are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) 
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles 
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have 
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for available-for-sale investments and the buildings classified 
as property, plant and equipment, which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in 
Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2013. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are 
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries 
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that 
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the 
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All 
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of 
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the 
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests and (iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded 
in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and 
(iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be 
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2013

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial 
statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards – Government Loans

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
HKAS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

– Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and 

HKFRS 12 Amendments 
Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 

– Transition Guidance 
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
HKAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits
HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements
HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
HK(IFRIC) – Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
Annual Improvements 

2009-2011 Cycle
Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in June 2012

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 13, amendments to HKFRS 10, 
HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, and HKAS 1 Amendments, and certain amendments included in Annual Improvements 2009-
2011 Cycle , the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these financial 
statements.

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:

(a) HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements  that addresses 
the accounting for consolidated financial statements and addresses the issues in HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation 
– Special Purpose Entities . It establishes a single control model used for determining which entities are 
consolidated. To meet the definition of control in HKFRS 10, an investor must have (a) power over an investee, (b) 
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to use its power 
over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. The changes introduced by HKFRS 10 require 
management of the Group to exercise significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled.

As a result of the application of HKFRS 10, the Group has changed the accounting policy with respect to 
determining which investees are controlled by the Group.

The application of HKFRS 10 does not change any of the consolidation conclusions of the Group in respect of its 
involvement with investees as at 1 January 2013.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b) The HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 Amendments clarify the transition guidance in HKFRS 10 and provide 
further relief from full retrospective application of these standards, limiting the requirement to provide adjusted 
comparative information to only the preceding comparative period. The amendments clarify that retrospective 
adjustments are only required if the consolidation conclusion as to which entities are controlled by the Group 
is different between HKFRS 10 and HKAS 27 or HK(SIC)-Int 12 at the beginning of the annual period in which 
HKFRS 10 is applied for the first time.

(c) HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard does not change the circumstances in which the Group 
is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how fair value should be applied where its use is 
already required or permitted under other HKFRSs. HKFRS 13 is applied prospectively and the adoption has 
had no material impact on the Group’s fair value measurements. As a result of the guidance in HKFRS 13, the 
policies for measuring fair value have been amended.

(d) The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). Items 
that could be reclassified (or recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, exchange differences 
on translation of foreign operations, net movement on cash flow hedges and net loss or gain on available-for-sale 
financial assets) are presented separately from items which will never be reclassified (for example, the revaluation 
of land and buildings). The amendments have affected the presentation only and have had no impact on the 
financial position or performance of the Group. In addition, the Group has chosen to use the new title “statement 
of profit or loss” as introduced by the amendments in these financial statements.

(e) Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle  issued in June 2012 sets out amendments to a number of standards. 
There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. While the adoption of some of the amendments may 
result in changes in accounting policies, none of these amendments have had a significant financial impact on the 
Group. Details of the key amendments most applicable to the Group are as follows:

• HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements : Clarifies the difference between voluntary additional 
comparative information and the minimum required comparative information. Generally, the minimum 
required comparative period is the previous period. An entity must include comparative information in 
the related notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative information beyond 
the previous period. The additional comparative information does not need to contain a complete set of 
financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the opening statement of financial position as at the beginning 
of the preceding period must be presented when an entity changes its accounting policies; makes 
retrospective restatements or makes reclassifications, and that change has a material effect on the 
statement of financial position. However, the related notes to the opening statement of financial position 
as at the beginning of the preceding period are not required to be presented.

• HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation : Clarifies that income taxes arising from distributions to 
equity holders are accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes. The amendment removes 
existing income tax requirements from HKAS 32 and requires entities to apply the requirements in HKAS 
12 to any income tax arising from distributions to equity holders.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, which have been issued but are not yet effective, in 
these financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 3

HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and 
HKAS 39 Amendments

Hedge Accounting and amendments to HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and HKAS 39 3

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and 
HKAS 27 (2011) Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)
– Investment Entities 1

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 4

HKAS 19 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee Benefits – Defined Benefit Plans: Employee 
Contributions 2

HKAS 32 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities 1

HKAS 39 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – 
Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting 1

HKAS 36 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets – Recoverable Amount 
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 21 Levies 1

Annual Improvements 
2010– 2012 Cycle

Amendments to a number of HKASs issued in July 20142

Annual Improvements 
2011– 2013 Cycle

Amendments to a number of HKASs issued in July 20142

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for adoption
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement . This phase focuses on the classification and measurement 
of financial assets. Instead of classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity shall classify financial assets 
as subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both the entity’s business model for 
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to improve 
and simplify the approach for the classification and measurement of financial assets compared with the requirements of 
HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and 
incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions 
were carried forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were made to the measurement of financial liabilities 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities, the 
amount of change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented in OCI. 
The remainder of the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change in 
respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, 
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have been designated under the FVO are scoped out of the 
Additions.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(Continued)

In December 2013, the HKICPA added to HKFRS 9 the requirements related to hedge accounting and made some 
related changes to HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 which include the corresponding disclosures about risk management activity 
for applying hedge accounting. The amendments to HKFRS 9 relax the requirements for assessing hedge effectiveness 
which result in more risk management strategies being eligible for hedge accounting. The amendments also allow greater 
flexibility on the hedged items and relax the rules on using purchased options and non-derivative financial instruments 
as hedging instruments. In addition, the amendments to HKFRS 9 allow an entity to apply only the improved accounting 
for own credit risk-related fair value gains and losses arising on FVO liabilities as introduced in 2010 without applying the 
other HKFRS 9 requirements at the same time.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on 
impairment of financial assets continues to apply. The previous mandatory effective date of HKFRS 9 was removed by 
the HKICPA in December 2013 and a mandatory effective date will be determined after the entire replacement of HKAS 
39 is completed. However, the standard is available for application now. The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction 
with other phases, when the final standard including all phases is issued.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 include a definition of an investment entity and provide an exception to the consolidation 
requirement for entities that meet the definition of an investment entity. Investment entities are required to account for 
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 rather than consolidate them. Consequential 
amendments were made to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011). The amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out the disclosure 
requirements for investment entities. The Group expects that these amendments will not have any impact on the Group 
as the Company is not an investment entity as defined in HKFRS 10.

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set off” for offsetting 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendments also clarify the application of the offsetting criteria in HKAS 32 
to settlement systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement mechanisms that are not 
simultaneous. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the financial position or performance of the 
Group upon adoption on 1 January 2014.

The HKAS 36 Amendments remove the unintended disclosure requirement made by HKFRS 13 on the recoverable 
amount of a cash-generating unit which is not impaired. In addition, the amendments require the disclosure of the 
recoverable amounts for the assets or cash-generating units for which an impairment loss has been recognised or 
reversed during the reporting period, and expand the disclosure requirements regarding the fair value measurement 
for these assets or units if their recoverable amounts are based on fair value less costs of disposal. The amendments 
are effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 with earlier application permitted, 
provided HKFRS 13 is also applied. The Group has not early adopted the amendments in these financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is 
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received 
and receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries that are not classified as held for sale in accordance with 
HKFRS 5 are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting 
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share 
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into 
line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates is included in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when 
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any 
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting 
from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the 
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising 
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received 
and receivable. The Company’s investments in associates are treated as non-current assets and are stated at cost less 
any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is measured at 
the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, 
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 
of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification 
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date 
fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of HKAS 
39 is measured at fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit or loss or as a change to other 
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in accordance 
with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree 
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower 
than the fair value of the net assets of acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a 
gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for 
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating 
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating 
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is 
not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the 
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the 
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these 
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset 
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal 
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must 
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than 
inventories, financial assets, goodwill and non-current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of 
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is 
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the 
function of the impaired asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount 
higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the 
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises (only if there are revalued assets in the financial statements), 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in 
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary 
of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or 
when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance 
with HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations 
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount 
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced 
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them 
accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially 
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the 
asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the 
excess of the deficit is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the 
statement of profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the asset revaluation 
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference between the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of 
an asset and the depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of 
the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in 
reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to 
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements 33%
Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is 
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives 
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal 
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, 
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction, and capitalised borrowing costs on related 
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of 
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed 
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life 
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial 
year end.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives of 2 to 10 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as 
operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives received 
from the lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the 
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified at initial recognition, as available-for-sale financial assets and loans and receivables. When 
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus transaction costs that are attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial assets.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss 
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses 
for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and 
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which are neither classified as held for 
trading nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended 
to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to 
changes in market conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised 
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until 
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified 
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. 
Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income 
and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance 
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of 
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the 
range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less any 
impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still 
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, 
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the ability and intention to hold the assets for 
the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of 
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised 
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any 
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset 
using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in 
equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily 
derecognised when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either 
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When 
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the 
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In the 
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on 
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets 
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is 
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that 
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the 
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, 
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred). The present 
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the 
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account and the loss is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount 
and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic 
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by 
adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement of profit 
or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is 
objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal 
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost 
of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where 
there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss – 
is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on 
equity instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in 
their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, loans from 
a director and a loan from non-controlling interests.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, loans from a director and a loan from non-
controlling interests are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the 
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation 
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the 
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement  (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company are those contracts that require a payment to be made to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance 
with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, 
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the Company measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially 
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition 
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis 
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of overheads and/or, where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is based on estimated 
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a short maturity of generally within three months 
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, 
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of 
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the 
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit 
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the 
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and 
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, 
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse 
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to 
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to 
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income 
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to the 
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted 
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation 
charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can 
be measured reliably, on the following bases:

• from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

• interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, 
when appropriate to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

• dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible 
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group 
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for 
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which 
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are 
given in note 30 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period 
in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee benefit expense. The cumulative expense 
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent 
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the 
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting 
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the 
market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that 
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the 
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense 
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within 
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled 
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are 
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per 
share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) 
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are 
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they 
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately 
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the 
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which are 
refunded to the Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with 
the rules of the MPF Scheme.
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Other employee benefits (Continued)

Pension schemes (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a central 
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain 
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the statement of profit or 
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and 
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity 
section of the statement of financial position, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. 
When these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of 
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised 
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements 
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the 
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of 
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on 
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on 
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other 
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong 
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation 
currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of 
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange 
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that 
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at 
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated 
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of 
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average 
exchange rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying 
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result 
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the 
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart 
from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements:

Recognition of a deferred tax liability for withholding taxes

The PRC New Corporate Income Tax Law, which became effective on 1 January 2008, states that the distribution of 
dividends by a foreign-invested enterprise established in Mainland China to its foreign investors in respect of its earnings, 
from 1 January 2008 or thereafter, shall be subject to withholding corporate income tax at a rate of 10%. The Group 
carefully evaluates the necessity of dividend distribution of its PRC subsidiaries out of profits earned after 1 January 
2008 and makes decisions on such dividend distributions based on the senior management’s judgement. As at 31 
December 2013, the aggregate unremitted earnings of HK$22,015,000 (2012: HK$48,664,000) that are subject to 
withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China were considered to be indefinitely reinvested 
and accordingly, the related deferred tax liabilities of HK$2,202,000 at 31 December 2013 (2012: HK$4,866,000) were 
not recognised. For details, please refer to note 28 to the financial statements.



 

Royale Furniture Holdings Limited  |  Annual Report 2013 57

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2013

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the 
value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the 
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 
31 December 2013 was HK$67,730,000 (2012: HK$190,868,000). Further details are given in note 16 to the financial 
statements.

Write-down of inventories

The write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made based on the estimated net realisable value of the 
inventories. The assessment of the write-down required involves management judgements and estimates. Where the 
actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such differences will have an impact on the 
carrying value of the inventories and the write-down/write-back of the inventories in the period in which such estimate 
has been changed. During the year ended 31 December 2013, a write-down of the inventories of HK$17,334,000 (2012: 
Nil) was recognised in the statement of profit or loss. As at 31 December 2013, the carrying amount of the write-down of 
the inventories amounted to HK$44,973,000 (2012: HK$27,639,000).

Impairment of trade receivables

The impairment of trade receivables is made based on the assessment of the recoverability of the trade receivables. 
The identification of doubtful debts requires management judgements and estimates. Where the actual outcome or 
expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such differences will have an impact on the carrying amounts 
of the receivables and the impairment/write-back of trade receivables in the period in which the estimate has been 
changed. During the year ended 31 December 2013, impairment losses of HK$68,569,000 (2012: Nil) and a reversal 
of impairment of HK$7,917,000 (2012: HK$385,000) for trade receivables were recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss. As at 31 December 2013, the carrying amount of the impairment losses of trade receivables amounted to 
HK$4,544,000 (2012: HK$12,103,000). Further details are given in note 22 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each 
reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying 
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The 
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s 
length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When 
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or 
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 
As at 31 December 2013, an impairment loss of HK$15,875,000 (2012: Nil) was recognised in the investments in 
associates. Further details are given in note 19 to the financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group measures the costs of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating the fair value for share-based payments requires 
determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent on the terms 
and conditions of the grant. This also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including 
the expected life of the options, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The assumptions 
and models used for the estimation of the fair value for share-based payments are disclosed in note 30 to the financial 
statements.

Fair values

The fair values of the Group’s financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying amounts. Fair value 
estimates are made at a specific point in time and based on relevant market information and information about the 
financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature, involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement 
and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates. 

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of home furniture. All of the Group’s products are of a 
similar nature and subject to similar risk and returns. Accordingly, the Group’s operating activities are attributable to a 
single operating segment.

Information about a major customer 

No revenue from sales to a single customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the year (2012: 
Nil).

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for 
returns and trade discounts.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income is as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
Sale of goods 994,032 1,063,736

Other income and gains
Bank interest income 276 1,092
Other interest income 596 3,258
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments 673 –
Licence fees income 761 735
Sales of scraps 12,765 9,825

15,071 14,910
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6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of inventories sold 880,232 753,375
Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment 14 87,545 61,561
Recognition of prepaid land lease payments 15 5,052 4,994
Amortisation of intangible assets* 17 1,139 974
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment – 2,088
Research and development costs* 9,237 8,633
Minimum lease payments under operating leases:

Land and buildings 80,703 79,155
Auditors’ remuneration 1,980 1,980
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ 

remuneration (note 8)):
Wages and salaries 195,974 184,184
Equity-settled share option expense 30 9,625 7,246
Expenses recognised for cancellation of share options – 747
Pension scheme contributions 14,231 11,989

219,830 204,166

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value** 17,334 –
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables# 22 (7,917) (385)
Impairment of trade receivables# 22 68,569 –
Impairment of goodwill 16 123,138 –
Impairment of investments in associates^ 19 15,875 –
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate^ 19 458 –

* The amortisation of intangible assets and research and development costs for the year have been included in “Administrative 

expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

** Write-down of inventories to net realisable value has been included in “Cost of sale” on the face of the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss.

# These items comprise “Impairment of trade receivables, net” on the face of consolidated statement of profit or loss.

^ These items comprise “Other expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

7. FINANCE COSTS

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank loans:
Wholly repayable within five years 18,450 18,426
Wholly repayable over five years 234 338

Interest on loans from a director (note 36(c)) 302 –
Interest on a loan from non-controlling interests (note 32) 1,426 –
Interest on other loan 44 –

20,456 18,764
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as 
follows:

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees 2,242 2,295

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,580 8,636
Discretionary bonuses 410 652
Equity-settled share option expense 4,991 2,443
Pension scheme contributions 15 5

13,238 14,031

During the year, certain directors were granted share options, in respect of their services to the Group, under the share 
option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 30 to the financial statements. The fair value 
of such options, which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined 
as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the current year is included in the above 
directors’ remuneration disclosures.

Fees

Salaries,
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Equity-settled 
share option 

expense

Pension 
scheme 

contributions
Total 

remuneration
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2013

Executive directors:

Mr. Tse Kam Pang 300 1,800 238 1,486 – 3,824
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, J. Francis 300 1,200 42 1,505 15 3,062
Mr. Zeng Lejin 

(resigned on 20 January 2014) 300 600 79 352 – 1,331
Mr. Lam Toi 

(resigned on 31 October 2013) 250 1,080 – – – 1,330
Mr. Tse Wun Cheung 300 900 51 1,056 – 2,307

1,450 5,580 410 4,399 15 11,854

Independent non-executive 
directors:

Dr. Donald H. Straszheim 312 – – – – 312
Mr. Lau Chi Kit 240 – – 296 – 536
Mr. Yue Man Yiu, Matthew 240 – – 296 – 536

792 – – 592 – 1,384

2,242 5,580 410 4,991 15 13,238
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Equity-settled 
share option 

expense

Pension 
scheme 

contributions
Total 

remuneration
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2012

Executive directors:

Mr. Tse Kam Pang 300 2,850 300 – – 3,450
Mr. Ma Gary Ming Fai

(resigned on 1 August 2012) 175 1,764 252 – – 2,191
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, J. Francis* 

(appointed on 1 August 2012) 125 495 – 98 5 723
Mr. Zeng Lejin 300 950 100 – – 1,350
Mr. Lam Toi 300 2,052 – – – 2,352
Mr. Tse Wun Cheung* 

(appointed on 15 June 2012) 163 525 – 1,224 – 1,912

1,363 8,636 652 1,322 5 11,978

Independent non-executive directors:

Dr. Donald H. Straszheim 312 – – – – 312
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, J. Francis 

(resigned on 1 August 2012) 140 – – – – 140
Mr. Lau Chi Kit 240 – – 491 – 731
Mr. Yue Man Yiu, Matthew 240 – – 630 – 870

932 – – 1,121 – 2,053

2,295 8,636 652 2,443 5 14,031

* The remuneration was calculated from the commencement of the appointment as director.
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included five (2012: five) directors, details of whose remuneration are set 
out in note 8 above.

10. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the Group did not generate any assessable profits in Hong Kong during 
the year (2012: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current – PRC corporate income tax 6,450 10,443
Deferred (note 28) (1,975) (1,548)

4,475 8,895

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit before tax at the applicable rate for the jurisdiction in which 
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

(Loss)/profit before tax (465,640) 33,909

Tax at the applicable tax rate at 25% (2012: 25%) (116,410) 25.0 8,477 25.0
Lower income tax rates for specific provinces or 

enacted by local authority 44,062 (9.5) (7,218) (21.3)
Profits attributable to associates (588) 0.1 (1,256) (3.7)
Expenses not deductible for tax 62,318 (13.4) 4,216 12.4
Tax losses not recognised 16,700 (3.5) 7,311 21.6
Tax losses utilised (1,607) 0.3 (2,635) (7.8)

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate 4,475 (1.0) 8,895 26.2
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to HK$1,894,000 (2012: HK$1,674,000), is included in “Share of 
profits of associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions of HK$155,205,000 (2012: HK$84,399,000) that 
are available for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets 
have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for 
some time. Apart from the above, there were no significant unrecognised deferred tax assets at 31 December 2013.

Under Decree – Law no. 58/99/M, companies in Macau incorporated under that Decree – Law (referred to as the 
“58/99/M Companies”) are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau income tax) as long as they do not sell 
their products to a Macau resident company. Sinofull Macau Commercial Offshore Limited (“Sinofull”), a subsidiary of the 
Group, is qualified as a 58/99/M Company.

11. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 includes a loss of HK$7,848,000 
(2012: loss HK$7,353,000), which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note 31(b)).

12. DIVIDENDS

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Proposed final – Nil (2012: HK0.55 cents) per ordinary share – 6,388

The directors of the Company have resolved not to declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013.
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13. LOSS/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 
COMPANY

The calculation of basic loss/earnings per share is based on the loss/profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,257,355,099 (2012: 879,315,208) in 
issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted loss/earnings per share amount is based on the loss/profit for the year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the Company. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss/earnings per share are based on:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss)/earnings
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company, 

used in the basic and diluted loss/earnings per share calculations (455,793) 21,629

Number of shares

2013 2012

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year used in 

the basic loss/earnings per share calculation 1,257,355,099 879,315,208

Effect of dilution – weighted average number of ordinary shares:
Share options – 8,349,614

1,257,355,099 887,664,822

The effects of share options have been excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 
December 2013 as their effects would be anti-dilutive.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Plant and 

machinery

Furniture, 
fixtures 

and office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2013

At 31 December 2012 and 
at 1 January 2013:
Cost or valuation 472,501 61,767 187,690 55,121 20,477 669,145 1,466,701
Accumulated depreciation – (40,791) (109,351) (17,149) (13,888) – (181,179)

Net carrying amount 472,501 20,976 78,339 37,972 6,589 669,145 1,285,522

At 1 January 2013, 
net of accumulated 
depreciation 472,501 20,976 78,339 37,972 6,589 669,145 1,285,522

Additions 4,427 24,240 4,902 5,614 1,614 99,145 139,942
Transfer 137,784 – 1,586 – – (139,370) –
Disposals – (2,075) (601) (43) (36) – (2,755)
Depreciation provided 

during the year (32,176) (22,325) (20,097) (10,801) (2,146) – (87,545)
Exchange realignment 12,266 737 2,392 1,221 188 19,787 36,591

At 31 December 2013, 
net of accumulated 
depreciation 594,802 21,553 66,521 33,963 6,209 648,707 1,371,755

At 31 December 2013:
Cost or valuation 626,978 82,490 195,508 61,022 21,070 648,707 1,635,775
Accumulated depreciation (32,176) (60,937) (128,987) (27,059) (14,861) – (264,020)

Net carrying amount 594,802 21,553 66,521 33,963 6,209 648,707 1,371,755

Analysis of cost or valuation:
At cost – 82,490 195,508 61,022 21,070 648,707 1,008,797
At valuation 626,978 – – – – – 626,978

626,978 82,490 195,508 61,022 21,070 648,707 1,635,775
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Plant and 

machinery

Furniture, 
fixtures 

and office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2012

At 31 December 2011 and 
at 1 January 2012:
Cost or valuation 452,700 53,536 183,595 19,855 18,763 548,689 1,277,138
Accumulated depreciation – (33,193) (95,654) (15,628) (12,023) – (156,498)

Net carrying amount 452,700 20,343 87,941 4,227 6,740 548,689 1,120,640

At 1 January 2012, 
net of accumulated 
depreciation 452,700 20,343 87,941 4,227 6,740 548,689 1,120,640

Additions 2,774 13,472 5,045 36,076 1,753 116,475 175,595
Acquisition of a subsidiary – – 3,023 91 217 – 3,331
Disposals (1,306) (4,957) (428) – (52) – (6,743)
Depreciation provided 

during the year (30,953) (8,086) (17,965) (2,437) (2,120) – (61,561)
Surplus on revaluation 45,981 – – – – – 45,981
Exchange realignment 3,305 204 723 15 51 3,981 8,279

At 31 December 2012, 
net of accumulated 
depreciation 472,501 20,976 78,339 37,972 6,589 669,145 1,285,522

At 31 December 2012:
Cost or valuation 472,501 61,767 187,690 55,121 20,477 669,145 1,466,701
Accumulated depreciation – (40,791) (109,351) (17,149) (13,888) – (181,179)

Net carrying amount 472,501 20,976 78,339 37,972 6,589 669,145 1,285,522

Analysis of cost or valuation:
At cost – 61,767 187,690 55,121 20,477 669,145 994,200
At valuation 472,501 – – – – – 472,501

472,501 61,767 187,690 55,121 20,477 669,145 1,466,701

At 31 December 2013, the Group’s building located in Hong Kong with a net carrying value of approximately 
HK$50,496,000 (the “HK Building”) was pledged under certain mortgage loans (note 27). Two of the Group’s buildings 
located in Mainland China with net carrying values of HK$186,808,000 and HK$136,750,000, respectively, were pledged 
to a bank to obtain bank loans (note 27).
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15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 216,771 147,810
Additions during the year – 72,782
Recognised during the year (5,052) (4,994)
Exchange realignment 6,321 1,173

Carrying amount at 31 December 218,040 216,771
Current portion included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (5,052) (4,909)

Non-current portion 212,988 211,862

The Group’s leasehold lands are situated in Mainland China and are held under the following lease terms:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Long term lease 171,276 170,054
Medium term lease 41,712 41,808

212,988 211,862

All the Group’s leasehold land is situated in Mainland China with terms from 38 years to 50 years.

As at 31 December 2013, two pieces of the Group’s land with net carrying values of approximately HK$22,676,000 and 
HK$15,704,000, respectively, were pledged to bank to obtain the bank loans (note 27).
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16. GOODWILL

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January:
Cost 307,213 239,482
Accumulated impairment (116,345) (116,345)

Net carrying amount 190,868 123,137

Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated impairment 190,868 123,137
Acquisition of a subsidiary – 67,731
Impairment during the year (123,138) –

At 31 December 67,730 190,868

At 31 December:
Cost 307,213 307,213
Accumulated impairment (239,483) (116,345)

Net carrying amount 67,730 190,868

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is related to the home furniture cash-generating unit for impairment 
testing.

The recoverable amount of the home furniture cash-generating (the “CGU”) unit was determined based on a value in 
use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior 
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 17% and cash flows beyond the five-year 
period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 3%.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the home furniture cash-generating unit for 31 December 2013. 
The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake 
impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins – The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the 
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency 
improvements, and expected market development.

Discount rates – The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions are consistent with external information sources.

As at 31 December 2013, the recoverable amount of the CGU was HK$93,248,000 and management recognised a 
goodwill impairment loss of HK$123,138,000.
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group

Patents and licences

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January:
Cost 8,443 8,355
Accumulated amortisation (7,046) (6,011)

Net carrying amount 1,397 2,344

Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated amortisation 1,397 2,344
Additions 1,016 –
Amortisation provided during the year (1,139) (974)
Exchange realignment 42 27

Cost at 31 December, net of accumulated amortisation 1,316 1,397

At 31 December:
Cost 9,713 8,443
Accumulated amortisation (8,397) (7,046)

Net carrying amount 1,316 1,397

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 91,744 91,744
Loans to subsidiaries 998,176 1,246,586
Capital contribution in respect of employee share-based compensation 10,937 1,312
Financial guarantee contracts – 4,473

1,100,857 1,344,115

In the opinion of the directors, these advances are considered as quasi-equity loans to the subsidiaries.
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries directly or indirectly held by the Company as at 31 December 2013 are as 
follows:

Name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration Place of operations

Nominal value of 
issued and fully 
paid-up share/

registered capital

Percentage of equity 
attributable to the 

Company Principal activities
Direct Indirect

Chitaly (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands 
(“BVI”)

Hong Kong Ordinary 
US$1,000

100 – Investment holding

Hong Kong Royale Furniture 
Holding Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary 
US$10,000

– 100 Investment holding

Chitaly Furniture Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary 
HK$10,000

– 100 Investment holding 
and sale of 
furniture

Wanlibao (Guangzhou) 
Furniture Limited*

PRC Mainland China Paid-up registered 
US$5,700,000

– 100 Manufacture and 
sale of furniture

Guangzhou Full Fat Furniture 
Limited*

PRC Mainland China Paid-up registered 
HK$26,000,000

– 100 Manufacture and 
sale of furniture

Simply (Dongguan) Furniture 
Limited*

PRC Mainland China Paid-up registered 
HK$18,000,000

– 100 Manufacture and 
sale of furniture

Guangzhou Yufa Furniture 
Company Limited

PRC Mainland China Paid-up registered 
HK$50,800,000

– 100 Manufacture and 
sale of furniture

Hong Kong Wong Chiu 
Furniture Holding Limited

BVI Macau Ordinary US$1 – 100 Sale of furniture

Guangzhou Fuli Furniture 
Company Limited

PRC Mainland China Ordinary
HK$65,000,000

– 100 Manufacture and 
sale of furniture

Realink Investment Group Limited BVI Hong Kong Ordinary US$1 – 100 Investment holding

Signature Industries Limited BVI Mainland China Ordinary 
HK$31,000,000

– 87.5 Investment holding

Sinofull Macau Macau Ordinary
HK$10,000

– 100 Sale of furniture

Beijing Yufa Furniture Company 
Limited (“Beijing Yufa”)

PRC Mainland China Ordinary 
RMB2,000,000

– 50** Manufacture and 
sale of furniture

Beauty City Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$1

– 100 Investment holding
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Name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration Place of operations

Nominal value of 
issued and fully 
paid-up share/

registered capital

Percentage of equity 
attributable to the 

Company Principal activities
Direct Indirect

Jiangxi Furun Furniture Company 
Limited*

PRC Mainland China Ordinary
US$15,000,000

– 100 Manufacture and 
sale of furniture

Harbin Royale Furniture Company 
Limited*

PRC Mainland China Ordinary
HK$20,000,000

– 100 Sale of furniture

Shenzhen Bokaimai Furniture 
Company Limited (“Bokaimai”)

PRC Mainland China Ordinary 
RMB2,000,000

– 65 Manufacture and 
sale of furniture

Tianjin Royale Furniture Company 
Limited

PRC Mainland China Ordinary
RMB150,000,000

– 55 Manufacture and 
sale of furniture

* These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

** The Group has obtained the voting power to appoint and remove the majority of the board of directors of Beijing Yufa based on 

the assignment of voting rights from the other shareholder of Beijing Yufa to the Group. Hence, Beijing Yufa is controlled by the 

Group and is consolidated in the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the 
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries 
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 2,054 14,358
Shares listed in Hong Kong, at cost 8,613 –
Share of net assets 15,703 5,941
Goodwill on acquisition 14,894 18,307

41,264 38,606
Loans to associates 14,764 14,764
Provision for impairment (15,875) –

40,153 53,370

Market value of listed shares 48,146 –

The loans to associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the 
directors, the loans are considered as quasi-equity investments in the associates.

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal associate are as follows:

Name
Particulars of 
issued shares held

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and 
business

Percentage of 
ownership interest 

attributable 
to the Group Principal activities

 
Jia Meng Holdings Limited Ordinary shares of 

HK$0.1 each
Hong Kong 26.6% Design, manufacture and sale of 

mattress and soft bed products

Investment in Jia Meng Holding Limited (“Jia Meng”)

Before September 2013, the Group held a 38% equity interest in Grandeur Industries Limited (“Grandeur”), one 
associate of the Group. Through a reorganisation to rationalise the structure in preparation for the listing on the Growth 
Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of the Stock Exchange (the “Reorganisation”), Jia Meng has since September 2013 
become the holding company of Grandeur. Upon the completion of the Reorganisation, the Group held a 38% equity 
interest in Jia Meng. In October 2013, Jia Meng issued additional ordinary shares by placing (the “Placing”) that the 
Group did not participate in and Jia Meng’s shares were listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Upon the completion 
of the Placing, the Group’s interest in Jia Meng was diluted to 26.6% and a deemed disposal loss of HK$458,000 was 
recognised.

Jia Meng has a financial year end date of 31 March. The consolidated financial statements are adjusted for the material 
transactions between Jia Meng and group companies between 1 January and 31 March.

Jia Meng, which is considered a material associate of the Group, is a strategic partner of the Group engaged in the 
design, manufacture and sale of mattress and soft bed products and is accounted for using the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of Jia Meng adjusted for any differences in accounting 
policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 110,127 76,423
Non-current assets 15,423 16,783
Current liabilities (32,321) (43,705)
Non-current liabilities (291) (294)
Non-controlling interests (1,008) (834)

Net assets 91,930 48,373

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 26.6% 38%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate, excluding goodwill 24,453 18,382
Goodwill on acquisition 7,963 11,376
Carrying amount of the investment 32,416 29,758

Revenues 140,927 123,403
Profit for the year 8,069 10,975
Other comprehensive income 2,055 –
Total comprehensive income for the year 10,124 10,975
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Impairment in the investments in associates

Due to the decline in the home furniture industry, management performed impairment test on the investments in 
associates. The recoverable amount of the investments in associates has been determined based on a value in use 
calculation using cash flow projections applied with 17% discount rate and the financial budgets. An impairment loss of 
HK$15,875,000 (2012: Nil) was recognised for the current year.

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity investments, at fair value:
Hong Kong 2,435 8,137

During the year, the gross gain in respect of the Group’s available-for-sale investments recognised in other 
comprehensive income amounted to HK$138,000 (2012: HK$2,115,000). An amount of HK$180,000 (2012: Nil) was 
reclassified from other comprehensive income to the statement of profit or loss for the year.

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities which were designated as available-for-sale financial 
assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market prices.

21. INVENTORIES

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 94,031 94,118
Work in progress 59,266 60,762
Finished goods 207,717 167,527

361,014 322,407
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 58,130 103,786
Impairment (4,544) (12,103)

53,586 91,683

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment in 
advance is normally required. The credit period is generally 30 to 90 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. 
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly 
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large 
number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any 
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balance. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of 
provision, is as follows:

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 43,719 77,454
31 to 90 days 8,448 11,240
91 to 180 days 1,419 2,989

53,586 91,683

The movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables is as follows:

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 12,103 12,387
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) 68,569 –
Amount written off as uncollectible (68,569) –
Reversal of impairment (note 6) (7,917) (385)
Exchange realignment 358 101

At 31 December 4,544 12,103
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not individually or collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 52,167 88,694
One to three months past due 1,419 2,989

53,586 91,683

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for whom there 
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good track 
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for 
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over 
these balances.

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 66,463 54,066 244 3,093
Deposits 12,807 17,639 – –
Due from an associate – 7,706 – –
Other receivables 60,406 105,247 – –

139,676 184,658 244 3,093

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above balances relate to 
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and bank balances 175,199 408,471 397 247
Time deposits – 20,000 – –

175,199 428,471 397 247
Less: Pledged time deposits:

Pledged for short term bank loans – (20,000) – –

Cash and cash equivalents 175,199 408,471 397 247

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) 
amounted to HK$115,788,000 (2012: HK$197,812,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, 
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and 
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks 
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with 
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

25. TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 69,984 40,490
31 to 90 days 53,307 33,596
91 to 180 days 6,997 596
181 to 360 days 601 1,483
Over 360 days 1,200 626

132,089 76,791

Included in the trade and bills payables are trade payables of HK$3,230,000 (2012: Nil) due to associates which 
are repayable within 90 days, which represents credit terms similar to those offered by the associates to their major 
customers.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 60-day to 90-day terms.
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Advances from customers 62,584 50,744 – –
Other payables 160,778 119,317 3,708 3,212
Accruals 26,048 25,966 – –

249,410 196,027 3,708 3,212

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
Maturity HK$’000 Maturity HK$’000 Maturity HK$’000 Maturity HK$’000

Current
Bank loans

Guaranteed – On demand 150,000 – –
Secured – 2013 10,000 – –
Guaranteed and secured (i)(b) 2014 8,000 2013 8,000 – –
Guaranteed and secured (i)(c) 2014 128,070 – – –

Current portion of 
long term bank loans
Secured (i)(a) 2014 1,698 2013 1,698 – –
Guaranteed and secured – 2013 168,747 – 2013 168,747

137,768 338,445 – 168,747

Non-current
Bank loans

Secured (i)(d) 2015 135,900 – – –
Secured (i)(a) 2015-2024 17,621 2014-2024 19,461 – –
Guaranteed and secured – 2014 224,996 – 2014 224,996

Other loan – unsecured (ii) 2015 80,000 – 2015 80,000 –

233,521 244,457 80,000 224,996

371,289 582,902 80,000 393,743

Analysed into:
Within one year 137,768 338,445 – 168,747
In the second year 217,598 226,694 80,000 224,996
In the third to fifth years, 

inclusive 5,094 5,094 – –
Beyond five years 10,829 12,669 – –

371,289 582,902 80,000 393,743
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

(i) As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings are bank advances comprising:

(a) bank borrowings of HK$19,319,000 which are secured by the HK Building with a net carrying value of 
approximately HK$50,496,000 (note 14);

(b) bank borrowings of HK$8,000,000 which are secured by the HK Building and are guaranteed by the 
Company;

(c) bank borrowings of HK$128,070,000 which are secured by a building and a piece of land with net 
carrying values of approximately HK$186,808,000 and HK$22,676,000, respectively (note 14 and 15); 
and

(d) bank borrowings of HK$135,900,000 which are secured by a building and a piece of land with net 
carrying values of approximately HK$136,750,000 and HK$15,704,000, respectively (note 14 and 15).

(ii) As at 31 December 2013, the unsecured other loan of HK$80,000,000 was borrowed from an independent third 
party and bore interest at a rate of 10% per annum.

(iii) As at 31 December 2013, bank loans denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB amounted to 
HK$243,219,000 and HK$128,070,000, respectively.

28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as follows:

Group

Revaluation of 
properties

Fair value 
adjustments 
arising from 

acquisition of 
a subsidiary Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2012 33,546 831 34,377

Deferred tax charged to other comprehensive income 8,556 – 8,556
Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit or loss 

during the year (note 10) (1,530) (18) (1,548)

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2012 and 
1 January 2013 40,572 813 41,385

Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit or loss 
during the year (note 10) (1,957) (18) (1,975)

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2013 38,615 795 39,410
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28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

At 31 December 2013, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the 
unremitted earnings of HK$22,015,000 (2012: HK$48,664,000) that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s 
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries 
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled 
approximately HK$2,202,000 at 31 December 2013 (2012: HK$4,866,000).

29. SHARE CAPITAL

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
2,000,000,000 (2012: 2,000,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 200,000 200,000

Issued and fully paid:
1,393,377,017 (2012: 1,161,377,017) ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 139,338 116,138

During the year, the movement in share capital was as follows:

In August 2013, 232,000,000 shares were placed to an independent third party at a placing price of HK$0.339 per share 
(the “Placing”). As a result of the Placing, 232,000,000 additional ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each were issued and the 
net proceeds of HK$76,374,000, after deduction of the related expenses of HK$2,274,000, were received during the 
year.

A summary of the transactions during the year with reference to the above movement in the Company’s issued share 
capital is as follows:

Number of 
shares 

in issue
Issued 
capital

Share 
premium 
account Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2012 682,323,418 68,232 614,940 683,172

Share options exercised 6,475,000 648 2,799 3,447
Bonus issue 85,452,927 8,545 (8,545) –
Open offer 387,125,672 38,713 158,722 197,435
Open offer expenses – – (6,686) (6,686)

At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013 1,161,377,017 116,138 761,230 877,368

Issue of shares 232,000,000 23,200 55,448 78,648
Shares issue expenses – – (2,274) (2,274)

At 31 December 2013 1,393,377,017 139,338 814,404 953,742

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the scheme are included in note 30 
to the financial statements.
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates share option schemes in order to advance the interests of the Company and shareholders by 
enabling the Company to grant options to attract, retain and reward the eligible participants. The Company adopted the 
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) became effective on 18 May 2012 to replace the old share option scheme which 
was expired on 25 April 2012. The Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years 
from that date.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme and under any other 
share option schemes of the Company pursuant to which options may be granted to directors, consultants and/or 
employees of any company in the Group, shall initially not exceed 10% of the relevant class of securities of the Company 
in issue excluding, for this purpose, shares issued on exercise of options under the Scheme and any other share option 
schemes of the Company. Upon the grant of options for shares up to 10% of the relevant class of securities of the 
Company and subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company in general meetings, the maximum number 
of shares to be issued under the Scheme when aggregated with securities to be issued under any other share option 
schemes of the Group may be increased by the board of directors, provided that the shares to be issued upon exercise 
of all outstanding options do not exceed 30% of the relevant class of securities in issue.

No option may be granted to any one person such that the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the 
exercise of options granted and to be granted to such person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant 
exceeds 1% of the issued share capital of the Company.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within eight days from the date of offer, upon payment of a 
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is determined by 
the directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the 
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during the option period (and 
not more than 10 years after the date of grant). The option period will be determined by the board of directors and 
communicated to each grantee. The board of directors may provide restrictions on the time during which the options 
may be exercised. There are no performance targets which must be achieved before any of the options can be 
exercised. However, the board of directors retains its discretion to accelerate the vesting of the fixed term options in the 
event that certain performance targets are met.

The subscription price for the Company’s shares under the Scheme will be a price determined by the board of directors 
and notified to each grantee. The subscription price will be the highest of: (i) the nominal value of a share; and (ii) 
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant, which 
must be a trading day; and (iii) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 
quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant. An option shall be deemed to have 
been granted and accepted by an eligible participant (as defined in the Scheme) and to have taken effect when the 
acceptance form as described in the Scheme is completed, signed and returned by the grantee with a remittance in 
favour of the Company of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Movements in the number of the Company’s share options under the Scheme during the current year are as follows:

Name or category 
of participant

Number of share options Date of 
grant of 

share 
options*

Exercise 
period of 

share 
options

Exercise 
price of 

share 
options

Price of the 
Company’s 

shares 
at grant 
date of 
options

At 
1 January 

2013

Granted 
during 

the year

At 
31 December 

2013
HK$

per share
HK$

per share

Directors

Donald H. Straszheim 1,263,547 – 1,263,547 20/7/2009 20/7/2010 to
 19/7/2019

0.41 0.52

Chang Chu Fai, J. Francis 947,660 – 947,660 20/7/2009 20/7/2010 to
 19/7/2019

0.41 0.52

4,492,611 – 4,492,611 7/9/2012 7/9/2013 to
 6/7/2022

0.73 0.82

– 2,000,000 2,000,000 2/1/2013 2/1/2014 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

– 2,000,000 2,000,000 2/1/2013 2/1/2015 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

Lau Chi Kit – 630,000 630,000 2/1/2013 2/1/2014 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

– 630,000 630,000 2/1/2013 2/1/2015 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

Tse Kam Pang – 3,164,500 3,164,500 2/1/2013 2/1/2014 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

– 3,164,500 3,164,500 2/1/2013 2/1/2015 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

Tse Wun Cheung – 2,250,000 2,250,000 2/1/2013 2/1/2014 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

– 2,250,000 2,250,000 2/1/2013 2/1/2015 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

Zeng Lejin 3,285,222 – 3,285,222 20/7/2009 20/7/2010 to
 19/7/2019

0.41 0.52

– 750,000 750,000 2/1/2013 2/1/2014 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

– 750,000 750,000 2/1/2013 2/1/2015 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

Yue Man Yiu, Matthew – 630,000 630,000 2/1/2013 2/1/2014 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

– 630,000 630,000 2/1/2013 2/1/2015 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

Others

Members of senior management and 
other employees of the Group

1,895,320 – 1,895,320 20/7/2009 20/7/2010 to
 19/7/2019

0.41 0.52

631,773 – 631,773 14/4/2010 14/10/2011 to
 13/4/2020

1.41 1.78

631,773 – 631,773 14/4/2010 14/4/2012 to
 13/4/2020

1.41 1.78

– 9,875,500 9,875,500 2/1/2013 2/1/2014 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

– 9,875,500 9,875,500 2/1/2013 2/1/2015 to
 1/1/2023

0.79 0.79

In aggregate 13,147,906 38,600,000 51,747,906

* The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

No share options were exercised during the year. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share 
options exercised during the year ended 31 December 2012 was HK$1.26 per share. The fair value of the share options 
granted during the year was HK$12,552,000 (HK$0.32 each) (2012: HK$2,464,000 (HK$0.31 each)). The Group 
recognised a share option expense of HK$9,625,000 (2012: HK$7,246,000) for the year ended 31 December 2013.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year was estimated as at the date of grant, using a 
binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table 
lists the inputs to the model used:

2013 2012

Dividend yield (%) – 4.7
Volatility (%) 55 – 60 51 – 53
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.14 – 0.28 0.20 – 0.23
Expected life of options (year) 2 2
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) 0.79 1.23

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative 
of the exercise patterns that may occur. The volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative 
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other feature of the options granted was 
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 51,747,906 share options outstanding under the Scheme. The 
exercise in full of the remaining share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the 
issue of 51,747,906 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$5,175,000 and share 
premium of HK$33,411,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 51,747,906 share options outstanding under the 
Scheme, which represented approximately 3.7% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.
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31. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented in 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 33 of the financial statements.

(b) Company

Share 
premium 
account

Contributed 
surplus

Share 
option 

reserve
Retained 

profits Total
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2012 614,940 45,144 21,543 29,556 711,183

Loss and total comprehensive loss 
for the year – – – (7,353) (7,353)

Equity-settled share option expense 30 – – 7,246 – 7,246
Exercise of share options 29 2,799 – (390) – 2,409
Cancellation of share options – – (27,087) – (27,087)
Bonus issue 29 (8,545) – – – (8,545)
Open offer 29 158,722 – – – 158,722
Open offer expenses 29 (6,686) – – – (6,686)
Proposed final 2012 dividend – – – (6,388) (6,388)

At 31 December 2012 and 
1 January 2013 761,230 45,144 1,312 15,815 823,501

Loss and total comprehensive loss 
for the year – – – (7,848) (7,848)

Equity-settled share option expense 30 – – 9,625 – 9,625
Issue of shares 29 55,448 – – – 55,448
Placing expenses 29 (2,274) – – – (2,274)

At 31 December 2013 814,404 45,144 10,937 7,967 878,452

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries 
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation before the listing of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefore. 
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, a company may make distributions to its members out of the 
contributed surplus under certain circumstances.
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32. LOAN FROM NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The loan from non-controlling interests is unsecured, bears interest at a rate of 6.15% per annum and will be repayable 
in one year. As at the end of the reporting period, included in the outstanding balance with the non-controlling interests 
was an amount of HK$1,426,000, which is the accrued interest for the loan.

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

Company 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities granted to subsidiaries – 150,000

As at 31 December 2012, the banking facilities granted to the subsidiaries subject to guarantees given to the banks 
by the Company amounted to HK$374,000,000, which were utilised to the extent of approximately HK$150,000,000. 
The carrying amount of the financial guarantee contracts recognised in the Company’s statement of financial position 
in accordance with HKAS 39 and HKFRS 4 was HK$4,473,000. The financial guarantee contracts were eliminated on 
consolidation. The loan under the banking facilities was repaid in 2013.

At the end of the reporting period, neither the Group nor the Company had any significant contingent liabilities.

34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office buildings, retail shops and warehouses under operating lease arrangements. 
Leases for the properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to seven years.

At 31 December 2013, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
falling due as follows:

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 33,597 19,253
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 34,413 13,189
After five years 9,476 565

77,486 33,007
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35. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised, but not contracted for:
Land and buildings 73,000 128,573
Plant and machinery – 98,712

73,000 227,285

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the following 
material transactions with related parties during the year:

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Associates:
Sales of products (i) 5,208 7,827
Purchases of products (i) 3,726 –
Licence fees income (ii) 761 735

(i) The sales to and purchases from the associates were made according to the published prices and 
conditions offered to the major customers of the Group.

(ii) The licence fees income from an associate was determined by the parties through arm’s length 
negotiations with reference to the sales volume of the associate.

(b) Outstanding balances with associates as at the end of the reporting period are included in notes 23 and 25 to 
the financial statements.

(c) Loans from a director

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Tse Kam Pang 28,374 –

Mr. Tse Kam Pang is one of the directors and also the Chairman of the Company. As at 31 December 2013, 
loans with an aggregate amount of HK$11,808,000 are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of 
repayment. A loan of HK$16,264,000 is unsecured, bears interest at a rate of 6% per annum and has no fixed 
terms of repayment. The rest of the outstanding balance of HK$302,000 with Mr. Tse Kam Pang is the accrued 
interest for the above interest-bearing loan.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Group

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short term employee benefits 8,232 11,583
Equity-settled share option benefits 4,991 2,443
Pension scheme contributions 15 5

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 13,238 14,031

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:

Group

Financial assets

Loans and 
receivables

Available-for-sale 
financial assets Total

2013 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 53,586 – 53,586
Available-for-sale investments – 2,435 2,435
Financial assets included in prepayments, 

deposits and other receivables (note 23) 73,213 – 73,213
Cash and cash equivalents 175,199 – 175,199

301,998 2,435 304,433

Loans and 
receivables

Available-for-sale 
financial assets Total

2012 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 91,683 – 91,683
Available-for-sale investments – 8,137 8,137
Financial assets included in prepayments, 

deposits and other receivables (note 23) 130,592 – 130,592
Pledged deposits 20,000 – 20,000
Cash and cash equivalents 408,471 – 408,471

650,746 8,137 658,883
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)

Group

Financial liabilities

2013 2012
Financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 132,089 76,791
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals (note 26) 159,567 127,111
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 371,289 582,902
Loans from a director 28,374 –
Loan from non-controlling interests 36,019 –

727,338 786,804

Company

Financial assets

2013 2012
Loans and 

receivables
Loans and 
receivables

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 397 247

Financial liabilities

2013 2012
Financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables 3,708 3,212
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 80,000 393,743
Financial guarantee contracts – 4,473

83,708 401,428
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be 
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following 
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, financial assets included in 
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, 
the current portion of interest-bearing bank loans, loans from a director and the loan from non-controlling interests 
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have been calculated by 
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments on similar terms, credit risk 
and remaining maturity. The Group’s own non-performance risk for the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 
31December 2013 was assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of the listed equity investments are measured based on quoted prices in active markets (level 1) for 
identical assets.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities approximate to their fair 
values.

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk.

The Group does not have written risk management policies and guidelines. However, management meets periodically 
to analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group’s exposure to financial risks. Generally, the Group employs a 
conservative strategy regarding its risk management.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term 
debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The interest-bearing bank loans with floating interest rates are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB. If 
there would be a general increase/decrease in the interest rate of bank borrowings with floating interest rates by 
25 basis points, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss/loss before tax would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$384,000 for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: the Group’s profit/profit 
before tax would have decreased/increased by approximately HK$611,000).

(ii) Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. These exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating 
units in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 2.9% (2012: 3.1%) of the Group’s 
sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the operating units making the sale, 
whilst almost 100% (2012: 100%) of costs are denominated in the units’ functional currencies. The Group does 
not use any forward currency contracts to eliminate the foreign currency exposures and the Group does not enter 
into any hedge derivatives.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(iii) Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers 
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances 
are monitored on an ongoing basis. For transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency of the 
relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the head of credit 
control.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and other 
receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of 
these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. 
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk 
within the Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed across different 
sectors.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are 
disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

(iv) Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the 
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows 
from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 
contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Group 2013

On demand
Less than 
one year

Over 
one year Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables – 132,089 – 132,089
Other payables and accruals – 159,567 – 159,567
Interest-bearing bank and 

other borrowings – 155,016 247,496 402,512
Loans from a director 28,374 – – 28,374
Loan from non-controlling interests – 36,706 – 36,706

28,374 483,378 247,496 759,248

2012

On demand
Less than 
one year

Over 
one year Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables – 76,791 – 76,791
Other payables and accruals – 127,111 – 127,111
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 150,000 194,429 266,996 611,425

150,000 398,331 266,996 815,327
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Company 2013

On demand
Less than 
one year

Over 
one year Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables – 3,708 – 3,708
Interest-bearing bank borrowings – 8,000 82,000 90,000

– 11,708 82,000 93,708

2012

On demand
Less than 
one year

Over 
one year Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables – 3,212 – 3,212
Interest-bearing bank borrowings – 174,251 242,790 417,041

– 177,463 242,790 420,253

(v) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ 
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions 
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes 
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 
2013 and 2012.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt 
includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables and other payables and accruals, loans 
from a director and loan from non-controlling interests, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital represents equity 
attributable to owners of the Company.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Capital management (Continued)

The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

Group 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 132,089 76,791
Other payables and accruals 249,410 196,027
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 371,289 582,902
Loans from a director 28,374 –
Loan from non-controlling interests 36,019 –
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (175,199) (408,471)

Net debt 641,982 447,249

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,341,205 1,661,184

Capital and net debt 1,983,187 2,108,433

Gearing ratio 32% 21%

40. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified and restated to conform with the current year’s presentation for 
better presentation of the financial statements.

41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2014.



 

Royale Furniture Holdings Limited  |  Annual Report 201392

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
 

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below:

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(restated) (restated) (restated)

REVENUE 994,032 1,063,736 1,547,318 1,210,005 892,234

Cost of sales (897,566) (753,375) (1,060,671) (837,213) (605,626)

Gross profit 96,466 310,361 486,647 372,792 286,608

Other income and gains 15,071 14,910 10,404 17,488 11,181
Selling and distribution costs (221,160) (180,850) (155,739) (127,459) (105,936)
Administrative expenses (137,790) (96,771) (83,270) (61,541) (57,215)
Finance costs (20,456) (18,764) (7,405) (3,483) (1,164)
Share of profits of associates 2,352 5,023 5,216 6,330 3,352
Impairment of trade receivables, 

net of reversal of impairment (60,652) – – – –
Goodwill impairment (123,138) – – – –
Other expenses (16,333) – – – (2,649)

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (465,640) 33,909 255,853 204,127 134,177
Income tax expense (4,475) (8,895) (21,537) (13,422) (3,711)

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (470,115) 25,014 234,316 190,705 130,466

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (455,793) 21,629 228,241 181,253 130,466
Non-controlling interests (14,322) 3,385 6,075 9,452 –

(470,115) 25,014 234,316 190,705 130,466

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

TOTAL ASSETS 2,425,852 2,778,375 2,296,366 1,481,821 872,095

TOTAL LIABILITIES (980,217) (1,002,295) (757,964) (381,392) (249,741)

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (104,430) (114,896) (87,080) (22,261) (4,528)

1,341,205 1,661,184 1,451,322 1,078,168 617,826
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